# ORGANOIRON IN THE SYNTHESIS OF ALKANOIC

ACIDS AND HETEROCYCLIC PRECURSORS.

# A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Science

in the

Department of Chemistry University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba

by

Krystyna Lezynska

August, 1993



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette disposition thèse à la des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-85937-7



Name

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four digit code in the spaces provided.

ORGANIC CHENISTRY

SUBJECT TERM



# **Subject Categories**

# THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

| <b>COMMUNICATIONS AND TH</b> | E ARTS |
|------------------------------|--------|
| Architecture                 | 0729   |
| Art History                  | 0377   |
| Cinema                       | 0900   |
| Dance                        | 0378   |
| Fine Arts                    |        |
| Information Science          | 0723   |
| Journalism                   | 0391   |
| Library Science              | 0399   |
| Mass Communications          | 0708   |
| Music                        | 0413   |
| Speech Communication         | 0459   |
| Theater                      | 0465   |

#### **EDUCATION**

| General                     | 0515  |
|-----------------------------|-------|
| Administration              | .0514 |
| Adult and Continuina        | 0516  |
| Agricultural                | 0517  |
| Art                         | 0273  |
| Bilingual and Multicultural | 0282  |
| Rusiness                    | 0688  |
| Community College           | 0275  |
| Curriculum and Instruction  | 0727  |
| Farly Childhood             | 0510  |
|                             | .0310 |
| ciementary                  | .0324 |
| Finance                     | .02// |
| Guidance and Counseling     | .0519 |
| Health                      | .0680 |
| Higher                      | .0745 |
| History of                  | .0520 |
| Home Economics              | .0278 |
| Industrial                  | 0521  |
| Language and Literature     | 0279  |
| Mathematics                 | 0280  |
| Music                       | 0522  |
| Philosophy of               | 0000  |
| Physical                    | 0523  |
| 1 118 316 5 1               |       |

# Psychology 0525 Reading 0535 Religious 0527 Sciences 0714 Secondary 0533 Social Sciences 0534 Social Sciences 0534 Sociology of 0340 Special 0529 Teacher Training 0530 Technology 0710 Tests and Measurements 0288 Vocational 0747 Vocational ......0747

#### LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS Lo

| Language                   |      |
|----------------------------|------|
| General                    | 067  |
| Ancient                    | 028  |
| Linguistics                | 0290 |
| Modern                     | 029  |
| Literature                 |      |
| General                    | 040  |
| Classical                  | 0294 |
| Comparative                | 029. |
| Medieval                   | 0297 |
| Modern                     | 029  |
| African                    | 0316 |
| American                   | 059  |
| Asian                      | 030: |
| Canadian (English)         | 035: |
| Canadian (French)          | 035: |
| English                    | 0593 |
| Germanic                   | 031  |
| Latin American             | 0312 |
| Middle Eastern             | 0313 |
| Romance                    | 0313 |
| Slavic and East European . | 0314 |
| •                          |      |

# PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

| INCOLUGI                |      |
|-------------------------|------|
| Philosophy              | 0422 |
| Religion                |      |
| General                 | 0318 |
| Biblical Studios        | 0321 |
| Clorey                  | 0321 |
| History of              | 0317 |
| Philosophi              | 0320 |
| 71 Philosophy or        | USZZ |
| Theology                | 0469 |
| SOCIAL SCIENCES         |      |
| American Studies        | 0323 |
| Anthropology            | 0020 |
| Archaeology             | 0324 |
| Cultural                | 0324 |
| Dhuntard                | 0320 |
| Privsical               | 032/ |
| Business Administration |      |
| General                 | 0310 |
| Accounting              | 0272 |
| Banking                 | 0770 |
| Management              | 0454 |
| Marketing               | 0338 |
| Canadian Studies        | 0385 |
| Economics               |      |
| General                 | 0501 |
| Agricultural            | 0503 |
| Commerce-Business       | 0505 |
| Finance                 | 0505 |
| History                 | 0500 |
| Labor                   | 0510 |
| TL                      | 0510 |
|                         | 0511 |
| Folklore                | 0358 |
| Geography               | 0366 |
| Gerontology             | 0351 |
| History                 |      |
| General                 | 0578 |

| Ancient                     | .05  | 79           |
|-----------------------------|------|--------------|
| Medieval                    | 05   | 81           |
| Modern                      | .05  | 82           |
| Black                       | 03   | $\tilde{28}$ |
| Africon                     | 03   | 3ī           |
| Asia, Australia and Oceania | 03   | 32           |
| Canadian                    | ŏ3   | 34           |
| European                    | 03   | 35           |
| Latin American              | 03   | 36           |
| Middle Eastern              | 03   | 33           |
| United States               | 03   | 37           |
| History of Science          | 05   | 85           |
| Law                         | 03   | 98           |
| Political Science           |      |              |
| General                     | 06   | 15           |
| International Law and       | •••  |              |
| Relations                   | 06   | 16           |
| Public Administration       | 06   | iž           |
| Recreation                  | 08   | i⊿           |
| Social Work                 | 04   | 52           |
| Sociology                   | 0.44 | -            |
| General                     | 06   | 26           |
| Criminology and Penology    | 04   | 27           |
| Demography                  | 09   | ົ້າຄ         |
| Ethnic and Racial Studies   | 06   | ñ            |
| Individual and Family       |      |              |
| Studies                     | 063  | 28           |
| Industrial and Labor        |      |              |
| Relations                   | 063  | 20           |
| Public and Social Welfare   | ŏ6:  | ົ້າດ         |
| Social Structure and        | 000  |              |
| Development                 | 070  | N            |
| Theory and Methods          | ŏ32  | íĂ.          |
| Transportation              | ŏž   | 19           |
| Urban and Regional Planning | ñog  | δό.          |
| Women's Studios             | ňű   | \$2          |

# THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

# **BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES**

| Agriconore            |       |
|-----------------------|-------|
| General               | 0473  |
| Aaronomy              | 0285  |
| Animal Culture and    |       |
| Animal Conore and     | 0.175 |
| INUTRITION            | 04/5  |
| Animal Pathology      | 0476  |
| Food Science and      |       |
| Technology            | 0359  |
| Forostov and Wildlife | 0479  |
| Direct Culture        | 0470  |
| Plant Culture         | 04/9  |
| Plant Pathology       | 0480  |
| Plant Physiology      | 0817  |
| Range Management      | 0777  |
| Wood Technology       | 0746  |
| Biology               |       |
| protoda               | 000/  |
| General               | 0308  |
| Anatomy               | 0287  |
| Biostatistics         | 0308  |
| Botany                | 0309  |
| Coll                  | 0270  |
| Eastern.              |       |
| Ecology               | 0329  |
| Entomology            | 0353  |
| Genetics              | 0369  |
| Limnology             | 0793  |
| Microhiology          | 0410  |
| Malasulas             | 0207  |
| Molecului             |       |
| Neuroscience          | 0317  |
| Oceanography          | 0416  |
| Physiology            | 0433  |
| Radiation             | 0821  |
| Veterinary Science    | 0778  |
| Zoology               | 0472  |
| 5 Z00logy             | 0472  |
| biophysics            |       |
| General               | 0786  |
| Medical               | 0760  |
|                       |       |
| EARTH SCIENCES        |       |
| Biogoochomistor       | 0425  |
| Cash and the          |       |
| Geochemistry          | 0996  |

| Geodesy                     | 037(   |
|-----------------------------|--------|
| Geologý                     | 0372   |
| Geophysics                  | 0373   |
| Hydrology                   | 0388   |
| Mineralogy                  | 0411   |
| Paleobotany                 | .034   |
| Paleoecoloov                | 0426   |
| Paleontology                | 0418   |
| Paleozoology                | 098    |
| Palvnology                  | 0427   |
| Physical Geography          | 0368   |
| Physical Oceanography       | 0414   |
| infacta occanography        |        |
| HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA     | L      |
| SCIENCES                    |        |
| Environmental Salanan       | 0740   |
| Haalib Sciences             |        |
| Casaral                     | 05//   |
| Audialagu                   | 0300   |
| Charaethaaraa               |        |
| Destitute                   | 0992   |
| Education                   | 030/   |
|                             |        |
| Hospital Management         | 0765   |
| Human Development           |        |
| Immunology                  | .0982  |
| Medicine and Surgery        | .0564  |
| Mental Health               | .034/  |
| Nursing                     | . 0569 |
| Nutrition                   | .05/0  |
| Obstetrics and Gynecology . | .0380  |
| Occupational Health and     |        |
| Iherapy                     | .0354  |
| Ophthalmology               | .0381  |
| Pathology                   | .0571  |
| Pharmacology                | .0419  |
| Pharmacy                    | .0572  |

Pharmacy Physical Therapy Public Health

Radiology ..... Recreation

0572

0573

0574

.0575

| Speech Pathology | 0460 |
|------------------|------|
| Toxicology       | 0383 |
| lome Economics   | 0386 |

#### **PHYSICAL SCIENCES**

ŀ

## **Pure Sciences**

| Chemistry                   |       |
|-----------------------------|-------|
| General                     | .0485 |
| Agricultural                | .0749 |
| Analytical                  | 0486  |
| Biochemistry                | .0487 |
| Inorganic                   | 0488  |
| Nuclear                     | 0738  |
| Organic                     | .0490 |
| Pharmaceutical              | 0491  |
| Physical                    | .0494 |
| Polymer                     | 0495  |
| Radiation                   | 0754  |
| Mathematics                 | .0405 |
| Physics                     |       |
| General                     | .0605 |
| Acoustics                   | .0986 |
| Astronomy and               |       |
| Astrophysics                | .0606 |
| Atmospheric Science         | .0608 |
| Atomic                      | .0748 |
| Electronics and Electricity | 0607  |
| Elementary Particles and    |       |
| High Energy                 | .0798 |
| Fluid and Plasma            | 0759  |
| Molecular                   | .0609 |
| Nuclear                     | 0610  |
| Optics                      | 0752  |
| Radiation                   | 0756  |
| Solid State                 | 0611  |
| Statistics                  | 0463  |
| Applied Sciences            |       |
| Applied Machanices          | 0044  |
| Applied mechanics           | .0346 |
| Computer Science            | .0984 |

| Engineering                |       |
|----------------------------|-------|
| General                    | 0537  |
| Aerospace                  | 0538  |
| Agricultural               | 0539  |
| Automotive                 | 0540  |
| Biomedical                 | 0541  |
| Chemicol                   | .0542 |
| Civil                      | 054   |
| Electronics and Electrical | 0.544 |
| Heat and Thermodynamics    | 0348  |
| Hydraulic                  | 0545  |
| Industrial                 | 054   |
| Morine                     | 0547  |
| Moterials Science          | 0794  |
| Mechanical                 | 0.548 |
| Metalluray                 | 074   |
| Mining                     | 0551  |
| Nuclear                    | 0552  |
| Packaging                  | 0549  |
| Petroleum                  | 0765  |
| Sanitary and Municipal     | 055/  |
| System Science             | 0790  |
| Geotechnology              | 0428  |
| Operations Research        | 0796  |
| Plastics Technology        | 0794  |
| Textile Technology         | .0001 |
|                            |       |

# PSYCHOLOGY

| General       | 062   |
|---------------|-------|
| Behavioral    | .0384 |
| Clinical      | .0622 |
| Developmental | .0620 |
| Experimental  | .0623 |
| Industrial    | .0624 |
| Personality   | .0625 |
| Physiological | .0989 |
| Psýchobiology | .0349 |
| Psychometrics | .0632 |
| Social        | .0451 |
|               |       |

#### Nom

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

## Catégories par sujets

# HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES

# COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS

| Architecture              |      |
|---------------------------|------|
| Beaux-arts                |      |
| Bibliothéconomie          |      |
| Cinéma                    |      |
| Communication verbale     |      |
| Communications            |      |
| Danse                     | 0378 |
| Histoire de l'art         |      |
| Journalisme               |      |
| Musique                   | 0413 |
| Sciences de l'information | 0723 |
| Théôtre                   | 0465 |

#### ÉDIICATION

| Généralités                | 515  |
|----------------------------|------|
| Administration             | 0514 |
| Art                        | 0273 |
| Collèges communautaires    | 0275 |
| Commerce                   | 0688 |
| Économie domestique        | 0278 |
| Education permanente       | 0516 |
| Education préscolaire      | 0518 |
| Education sanitaire        | 0680 |
| Enseignement agricole      | 0517 |
| Enseignement bilingue et   |      |
| multiculturel              | 0282 |
| Enseignement industriel    | 0521 |
| Enseignement primaire      | 0524 |
| Enseignement professionnel | 0747 |
| Enseignement religieux     | 0527 |
| Enseignement secondaire    | 0533 |
| Enseignement spécial       | 0529 |
| Enseignement supérieur     | 0745 |
| Evaluation                 | 0288 |
| Finances                   | 0277 |
| Formation des enseignants  | 0530 |
| Histoire de l'éducation    | 0520 |
| Lanaues et littérature     | 0279 |

# Programmes a erudes er enseignement 0727 Psychologie 0525 Sciences 0714 Sciences sociales 0534 Sociologie de l'éclucation 0340 Technologie 0710

# LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE

| LINUULJINGUL            |      |
|-------------------------|------|
| Langues                 |      |
| Généralités             | 067  |
| Anciennes               | 028  |
| Linguistique            | 0290 |
| Modernes                | 029  |
| Littérature             |      |
| Généralités             | 040  |
| Anciennes               | 0294 |
| Comparée                | 029: |
| Mediévale               | 0292 |
| Moderne                 | 0298 |
| Africaine               | 0316 |
| Américaine              | 059  |
| Anglaise                | 0593 |
| Asiatique               | 0303 |
| Canadienne (Analaise)   | 0352 |
| Canadienne (Francaise)  | 0355 |
| Germanique              | 031  |
| Latino-oméricaine       | 0312 |
| Moven-orientale         | 0313 |
| Romone                  | 0313 |
| Slave et est-européenne | 0314 |
|                         |      |

# PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET

| hilosophie                 | 0422 |
|----------------------------|------|
| Religion                   |      |
| Généralités                | 0318 |
| Çlergé                     | 0319 |
| Etudes bibliques           | 0321 |
| Histoire des religions     | 0320 |
| Philosophie de la religion | 0322 |
| héologie                   | 0469 |
| <b>T</b>                   |      |

## SCIENCES SOCIALES

| Anthropologie        |       |
|----------------------|-------|
| Archéologie          | 0324  |
| Culturelle           | 0326  |
| Physique             | 0327  |
| Droit                | 0398  |
| Économie             |       |
| Généralités          | 0501  |
| Commerce-Affaires    | 0505  |
| Économie garicole    | 0503  |
| Économie du travail  | 0510  |
| Finances             | 0.508 |
| Histoire             | 0509  |
| Théorie              | 0511  |
| Études américaines   | 0323  |
| Etudes canadiennes   | 0385  |
| Etudes féministes    | 0453  |
| oklore               | 0358  |
| Géoaraphie           | 0366  |
| Gérontologie         | 0351  |
| Gestion des affaires |       |
| Générolités          | .0310 |
| Administration       | 0454  |
| Banaves              | 0770  |
| Comptabilité         | 0272  |
| Marketina            | 0338  |
| tistoire             |       |
| Histoire générale    | 0578  |

# Médiévale ......0581 Africaine 0331 Canadienne 0334 Étals-Unis ......0337 Droit et relations internationales ......0616 pénitentiaires 0627 pénitentiaires 0627 Pémographie 0938 Etudes de l'individu et 0628 Études des relations interethniques et des relations raciales .......0631 Structure et développement

Ancienne .....

CODE DE SUJET

re ge

# **SCIENCES PHYSIQUES**

#### **Sciences Pures**

| Chimie                      |        |
|-----------------------------|--------|
| Genérolités                 | 0485   |
| Biochimie                   | 487    |
| Chimie goricole             | 0749   |
| Chimie analytique           | 0486   |
| Chimie minérole             | 0488   |
| Chimie nucléaire            | 0738   |
| Chimie organique            | 0490   |
| Chimie pharmaceutique       | 0491   |
| Physique                    | 0494   |
| PolymCres                   | 0495   |
| Radiation                   | 0754   |
| Mathématiques               | 0405   |
| Physique                    | . 0400 |
| Généralités                 | 0605   |
| Acoustique                  | 0986   |
| Astronomie et               |        |
| astrophysique               | 0606   |
| Electronique et électricité | 0607   |
| Fluides et plasma           | 0759   |
| Météorologie                | 0608   |
| Optique                     | 0752   |
| Porticules (Physique        |        |
| nuclégire)                  | .0798  |
| Physique atomique           | 0748   |
| Physique de l'état solide   | 0611   |
| Physique moléculaire        | 0609   |
| Physique nucléoire          | 0610   |
| Radiation                   | 0756   |
| Statistiques                | .0463  |
| Sciences Appliqués Et       |        |

# Se Te

| Technologie  |      |
|--------------|------|
| Informatique | 0984 |
| Ingénierie   |      |
| Généralités  | 0537 |
| Agricole     | 0539 |
| Automobile   | 0540 |

| Biomédicale  | .0541 |
|--|-------|
| Chaleur et ther  |       |
| modynamique  | .0348 |
| Conditionnement  |       |
| (Emballage)  | 0549  |
| Génie gérospatial  | 0538  |
| Génie chimique   | 0542  |
| Gónio civil  | 0542  |
| Cánia álastranious at  | .0545 |
| denie electronique er  | 0511  |
| electrique   | .0544 |
| Genie industriel   | .0546 |
| Génie mécanique  | .0548 |
| Génie nucléaire  | .0552 |
| Ingénierie des systömes  | .0790 |
| Mécanique navale   | .0547 |
| Métallurgie  | .0743 |
| Science des matériaux  | .0794 |
| Technique du pétrole   | 0765  |
| Technique minière  | 0551  |
| Techniques sanitaires et   |       |
| municipales  | 0554  |
| Tochnologia hydraulique  | 0545  |
| Mécanique appliquée  | 0343  |
| Céatacha al a sia  | 0.40  |
| Geolecinologie   | .0420 |
| malleres plastiques  | 0705  |
| (lechnologie)  | .0795 |
| Recherche operationnelle   | .0796 |
| Textiles et tissus (Technologie)   | .0794 |
| PSYCHOLOGIE  |       |
| Généralités  | 0421  |
| Porconnolité   | 0621  |
| Development in the second seco | .0023 |

# P

| 621 |
|-----|
| 625 |
| 349 |
| 622 |
| 384 |
| 620 |
| 623 |
| 624 |
| 989 |
| 451 |
| 632 |
|     |

# SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

# **SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES**

| Aduconoie                   |        |
|-----------------------------|--------|
| Généralités                 | . 0473 |
| Aaronomie.                  | 0285   |
| Alimentation et technologie |        |
| alimentaire                 | 0250   |
| Culture                     | 0337   |
| Culture                     | .0479  |
| Elevage et alimentation     | .04/5  |
| Exploitation des péturages  | .0777  |
| Pathologie animale          | .0476  |
| Pathologie végétale         | .0480  |
| Physiologie végétale        | 0817   |
| Sulviculture et laune       | 0479   |
| Toshnologio du hais         | 0714   |
| a. I crimologie du bois     | .0/40  |
| BIOLOGIE                    |        |
| Généralités                 | .0306  |
| Anatomie                    | .0287  |
| Biologie (Statistiques)     | .0308  |
| Biologie moléculaire        | .0307  |
| Botanique                   | 0309   |
| Cellue                      | 0379   |
| Ecologia                    | 0220   |
| Enternalente                | 0327   |
| chiomologie                 | .0333  |
| Genetique                   | .0369  |
| Limnologie                  | .0793  |
| Microbiologie               | .0410  |
| Neurologie                  | .0317  |
| Océanoaraphie               | .0416  |
| Physiologie                 | 0433   |
| Radiation                   | 0821   |
| Science vétéringire         | 0779   |
| Zealasia                    | 0472   |
| D'                          | .04/2  |
| biophysique                 | 0704   |
| Generalités                 | .0786  |
| Medicale                    | . 0760 |
| CORNERS OF LA STODE         |        |
| SCIENCES DE LA TERRE        |        |
| Biogéochimie                | .0425  |
| Géochimie                   | .0996  |
| Géodésie                    | .0370  |
| Géographie physique         | 0368   |
|                             |        |

| Géologie<br>Géophysique<br>Hydrologie<br>Océanographie physique<br>Paléobotanique<br>Paléocologie<br>Paléocologie<br>Paléontologie<br>Paléozologie<br>Paléozologie<br>Palozologie | .0372<br>.0373<br>.0388<br>.0411<br>.0415<br>.0345<br>.0426<br>.0418<br>.0985<br>.0427 |
|---|--|
| SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE<br>L'ENVIRONNEMENT<br>Économie domestique<br>Sciences de la sonté  | .0386<br>.0768   |

| conomic domestique          | .0500  |
|-----------------------------|--------|
| ciences de l'environnement  | .0768  |
| ciences de la santé         |        |
| Généralités                 | .0566  |
| Administration des hipitaux | .0769  |
| Alimentation et nutrition   | . 0570 |
| Audiologie                  | .0300  |
| Chimiothéropie              | .0992  |
| Dentisterie                 | .0567  |
| Développement humain        | .0758  |
| Enseignement                | .0350  |
| Immunologie                 | .0982  |
| Loisirs                     | .0575  |
| Médecine du travail et      |        |
| thérapie                    | 0354   |
| Médecine et chiruraie       | 0564   |
| Obstétrique et avnécologie  | 0380   |
| Ophtalmologie               | 0381   |
| Orthophonie                 | 0460   |
| Pathologie                  | 0571   |
| Pharmacie                   | 0572   |
| Pharmacologie               | 0419   |
| Physiothéropie              | 0382   |
| Radiologie                  | 0574   |
| Santé mentale               | 0347   |
| Santé publique              | 0573   |
| Soins infirmiers            | 0569   |
| Toxicologie                 | 0383   |
|                             |        |

| 0756<br>0463 |  |
|--------------|--|
| 0984         |  |

# ORGANOIRON IN THE SYNTHESIS OF ALKANOIC ACIDS AND HETEROCYCLIC PRECURSORS

ΒY

KRYSTYNA LEZYNSKA

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

© 1993

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and UNIVERSITY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publications rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

ABSTRACT

The use of alkanoic acids and heterocycles such as azetinones or pyrimidines in medicinal chemistry is of great interest. The synthesis of these compounds is complicated by the toxicity of some of the reagents involved in the synthesis. Thus there is a growing need for the development of new routes in the preparation of heterocycles. The some acids and alkanoic methodological strategy proposed by our group involves the nucleophilic aromatic substitution (S<sub>N</sub>Ar) reactions of cyclopentadienyliron complexes of chloroarenes with ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate, ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate, phenylsulphonylacetonitrile and ethyl cyanoacetate in the presence of potassium carbonate in DMF, followed by photolytic demetallation. Photolysis of the resulting S<sub>N</sub>Ar products, namely arylated ethyl cyanoacetates and ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles as well as complexed substituted alkanoic acid esters, led in our case to the liberation of the substituted arene ligands in high yields.

The synthetic strategy chosen for the synthesis of the compounds of interest has proven to be very applicable due to its ease, use of mild reaction conditions and versatility.

i

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank my supervisor, Professor A.S. Abd-El-Aziz for his encouragement, support, patience and guidance during the course of my work and in the preparation of this thesis.

A very special thank you goes to C. de Denus for her assistance, valuable discussions and help in solving computer problems during the writing of this thesis.

I would also like to express my gratitude to a group of people who has in one way or another contributed to the completion of my project, S. Tesfalidet, G. Fisher -Smith, D. Schriemer and K. Epp.

I would like to thank the Department of Chemistry and the College of Graduate Studies, University of Manitoba, for having me as their graduate student.

My gratitude is also due to Professors A.S. Abd-El-Aziz, A. Janzen, A. Secco and D. McKinnon for making their graduate courses available to me.

As well I would like to acknowledge the Department of Chemistry, University of Winnipeg, for providing me with the facilities necessary to pursue this project.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. You have provided me with the support, patience and understanding that allowed me to complete this thesis.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT   | i   |
|--|-----|
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS  | ii  |
| LIST OF FIGURES  | vii |
| LIST OF TABLES   | x   |
| 1.0 INTRODUCTION   | 1   |
| 1.1 Synthesis of Arene Complexes.                                | 2   |
| 1.2 Reactivity of Arene Complexes.                               | 7   |
| 1.2.1 Nucleophilic Substitution<br>Reactions of Iron Complexes.  | 9   |
| 1.3 Liberation of the Modified Arenes from their Metal Moieties. | 14  |
| 1.4 Traditional Synthetic Routes for the<br>Target Compounds.    | 18  |
| 1.4.1 Arylated Alkanoic Acids and<br>Their Precursors.           | 18  |
| 1.4.2 Heterocyclic Precursors.                                   | 25  |
| 1.5 Nature and Scope of the Present Work.                        | 27  |

| 2.0 | RESULT            | S AND DISCUSSION   | 28 |
|-----|-------------------|--|----|
| 2.1 | Synthe            | sis of Chloroarene Complexes.  | 28 |
| 2.2 | Synthe<br>via Ore | sis of Some Alkanoic Acid Esters<br>ganoiron Complexes.                          | 31 |
|     | 2.2.1             | Synthesis of Ethyl 2-methylaceto-<br>acetate and Ethyl 2-ethylaceto-<br>acetate. | 32 |
|     | 2.2.2             | Arylation of Ethyl 2-methylaceto-<br>acetate and Ethyl 2-ethylaceto-<br>acetate. | 33 |
|     | 2.2.3             | Photolysis of the CpFe Complexes<br>of Alkanoic Acid Esters.                     | 47 |
| 2.3 | Reacti<br>nitril  | ons of Ethylphenylsulphonylaceto-<br>es.   | 59 |
|     | 2.3.1             | Synthesis of Ethylphenylsulphonyl-<br>acetonitrile.                              | 60 |
|     | 2.3.2             | Arylation of Ethylphenylsulphonyl-<br>acetonitrile.                              | 63 |
|     |                   |  |    |

- 2.3.3 Photolysis of the Complexed Ethyl- 69 Phenylsulphonylacetonitriles.
- 2.4 Reactions of Ethylcyanoacetates. 70

iv

|     | 2.4.1  | Arylation of Ethyl Cyanoacetates.                             | 70 |
|-----|--------|---|----|
|     | 2.4.2  | Photolysis of the Complexed Ethyl                             | 76 |
|     |        | Cyanoacetates.  |    |
|     |        |   |    |
| 3.0 | EXPERI | MENTAL  | 86 |
|     |        |   |    |
| 3.1 | Synthe | sis of Chloroarene Complexes                                  | 87 |
|     | Ligand | Exchange Reactions.   |    |
|     | 3.1.1  | $\eta^{\circ}$ -arene- $\eta^{\circ}$ -cyclopentadienyl hexa- | 87 |
|     |        | fluorophosphate complexes.                                    |    |
|     |        |   |    |
| 3.2 | Synthe | sis of Some Alkanoic Acid Esters.                             | 88 |
|     |        |   |    |
|     | 3.2.1  | Preparation of Ethyl 2-methyl-                                | 88 |
|     |        | acetoacetate and Ethyl 2-ethyl                                |    |
|     |        | -acetoacetate.  |    |
|     | 3.2.2  | Synthesis of $\eta^6$ -ethyl 2-aryl                           | 90 |
|     |        | propanoates (or butanoates)-                                  |    |
|     |        | $\eta^{5}$ -cyclopentadienyliron(II)                          |    |
|     |        | hexafluorophosphate complexes.                                |    |
|     | 3.2.3  | Photolysis of $\eta^{\circ}$ -ethyl 2-aryl                    | 91 |
|     |        | propanoates (or butanoates)-                                  |    |
|     |        | $\eta^{5}$ -cyclopentadienyliron(II)                          |    |
|     |        | hexafluorophosphate complexes.                                |    |
|     |        |   |    |

3.3 Reactions of Ethylphenylsulphonylaceto-

v

nitriles.

- 3.3.1 Synthesis of Ethylphenylsulphonyl- 92 acetonitrile.
- 3.3.2 Synthesis of  $\eta^6$ -aryl Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile- $\eta^5$ -cyclopentadienyliron(II) hexafluorophosphate complexes.
- 3.3.3 Photolysis of η<sup>6</sup>-aryl Ethylphenyl- 94 sulphonylacetonitrile-η<sup>5</sup>-cyclopentadienyliron(II) hexafluorophosphate complexes.
- 3.4 Reactions of Ethyl Cyanoacetates. 95
  - 3.4.1 Synthesis of isomeric  $n^{\circ}$ -ethyl 95

(chlorophenyl)cyanoacetateη<sup>5</sup>-cyclopentadienyliron(II) hexafluorophosphate complexes. 3.4.2 Photolysis of isomeric η<sup>6</sup>-ethyl

96

(chlorophenyl)cyanoacetate-η<sup>5</sup>cyclopentadienyliron(II)

hexafluorophosphate complexes.

| 4.0   | CONCLUSION | 97  |
|-------|------------|-----|
| REFER | ENCES      | 100 |

vi

| LI | S | Т | OF | F | I | G | ប | R | E | $\mathbf{S}$ |
|----|---|---|----|---|---|---|---|---|---|--------------|
|    | _ | _ |    |   |   |   |   |   |   | _            |

| Figures |  | Page |
|---------|--|------|
| Fig.1   | Comparison of the reactivity of 18-                                | 8    |
|         | electron complexes to their electron-                              |      |
|         | withdrawing properties.  |      |
| Fig.2   | Structural represantation of                                       | 19   |
|         | Ibuprofen and Ibufenac.  |      |
| Fig.3   | <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectrum of (n <sup>6</sup> -p-chloro-          | 29   |
|         | toluene) $-\eta^5$ - (cyclopentadienyliron)                        |      |
|         | hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                              |      |
| Fig.4   | <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of $(\eta^{\circ}-p-chlorotoluene) -$ | 30   |
|         | $\eta^{5}$ -(cyclopentadienyliron)hexafluoro-                      |      |
|         | phosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .  |      |
| Fig.5   | 'H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-methylaceto-                            | 34   |
|         | acetate in $CDCl_3$ .  |      |
| Fig.6   | <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-methylaceto-               | 35   |
|         | acetate in $CDCl_3$ .  |      |
| Fig.7   | <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectrum of $\eta^{6}$ -(ethyl 2-phenyl-        | 39   |
|         | propanoate)- $\eta^5$ -cyclopentadienyliron                        |      |
|         | hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                              |      |
| Fig.8   | <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of $\eta^6$ -(ethyl 2-phenyl-         | 40   |
|         | proanoate)- $\eta^5$ -cyclopentadienyliron                         |      |
|         | hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                              |      |
|         |  |      |
| Fig.9   | <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectrum of $\eta^{\circ}$ -(ethyl 2-phenyl-    | 41   |
|         | butanoate)-n <sup>5</sup> -cyclopentadienyliron                    |      |
|         | hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                              |      |

vii

| <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of n <sup>6</sup> -(ethyl 2-phenyl- | 42  |
|--|---|
| butanoate)- $\eta^5$ -cyclopentadienyliron                       |   |
| hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                            |   |
| 'H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)-                            | 49  |
| propanoate in $CDCl_3$ .   |   |
| <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)-               | 50  |
| propanoate) in $CDCl_3$ .  |   |
| <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-phenyl-                   | 51  |
| butanoate in $CDCl_3$ .  |   |
| <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-phenyl-                  | 52  |
| butanoate in $CDCl_3$ .  |   |
| 'H NMR spectrum of EthylPhenylsulphonyl-                         | 61  |
| acetonitrile in $CDCl_3$ .                                       |   |
| 13 NMR spectrum of Ethyl Phenylsulphonyl-                        | 62  |
| acetonitrile in $CDCl_3$ .                                       |   |
| 'H NMR spectrum of $\eta^5$ -Cyclopentadienyl                    | 65  |
| [n <sup>c</sup> -(p-tolyl)phenylsulphonylacetonitrile]           |   |
| iron(II)hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                    |   |
| <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of $\eta^5$ -Cyclopentadienyl       | 66  |
| [n <sup>d</sup> -(p-tolyl)phenylsulphonylacetonitrile]           |   |
| iron(II) hexafluorophosphate in $CD_3COCD_3$ .                   |   |
| 'H NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-                               | 71  |
| sulphonyl) acetonitrile in $CDCl_3$ .                            |   |
| <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-                  | 72  |
| sulphonyl)acetonitrile in CDCl3.                                 |   |
| 'H NMR spectrum of η <sup>6</sup> -[ethyl(p-chloro-              | 78  |
|  | <pre>''C NMR spectrum of n<sup>6</sup>-(ethyl 2-phenyl-<br/>butanoate)-n<sup>5</sup>-cyclopentadienyliron<br/>hexafluorophosphate in CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>.<br/>'H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)-<br/>propanoate in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''G NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)-<br/>propanoate) in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-phenyl-<br/>butanoate in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-phenyl-<br/>butanoate in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''H NMR spectrum of Ethyl Phenylsulphonyl-<br/>acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''B NMR spectrum of Ethyl Phenylsulphonyl-<br/>acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''H NMR spectrum of n<sup>5</sup>-Cyclopentadienyl<br/>[n<sup>6</sup>-(p-tolyl)phenylsulphonylacetonitrile]<br/>iron(II)hexafluorophosphate in CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''B NMR spectrum of n<sup>5</sup>-Cyclopentadienyl<br/>[n<sup>6</sup>-(p-tolyl)phenylsulphonylacetonitrile]<br/>iron(II) hexafluorophosphate in CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''B NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-<br/>sulphonyl)acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''H NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-<br/>sulphonyl)acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''A NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-<br/>sulphonyl)acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.<br/>''H NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenyl-<br/>sulphonyl)acetonitrile in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.</pre> |

viii

phenylcyanoacetate]- $\eta^5$ -(cyclopentadienyl) hexafluorophosphate in CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>.

- Fig.22 <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of  $\eta^{\circ}$ -[ethyl(p-chloro- 79 phenylcyanoacetate]- $\eta^{\circ}$ -(cyclopentadienyl) hexafluorophosphate in CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>.
- Fig.23 <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of Ethyl (p-chloro)phenyl 80 (cyano)acetate in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.
- Fig.24 <sup>13</sup> NMR Spectrum of Ethyl (p-chloro)phenyl 81 (cyano)acetate in CDCl<sub>3</sub>.

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table |   | Page |
|-------|---|------|
| 2.2.1 | 'H NMR and yield data for complexes           | 43   |
|       | derived from nucleophilic substitution        |      |
|       | reactions of CpFe complexes of                |      |
|       | chloroarenes with Ethyl 2-methylaceto-        |      |
|       | acetate.                                      |      |
| 2.2.2 | <sup>13</sup> C NMR and IR data for complexes | 44   |
|       | derived from nucleophilic substitution        |      |
|       | reactions of CpFe complexes of                |      |
|       | chloroarenes with Ethyl 2-methylaceto-        |      |
|       | acetate.                                      |      |
| 2.2.3 | 'H NMR and yield data for complexes           | 45   |
|       | derived from nucleophilic substitution        |      |
|       | reactions of CpFe complexes of                |      |
|       | chloroarenes with Ethyl 2-ethylaceto-         |      |
|       | acetate.                                      |      |
| 2.2.4 | <sup>13</sup> C NMR and IR data for complexes | 46   |
|       | derived from nucleophilic substitution        |      |
|       | reactions of CpFe complexes of                |      |
|       | chloroarenes with Ethyl 2-ethylaceto-         |      |

acetate.

2.2.5 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for Ethyl- 53 (substituted phenyl or tolyl) propanoates.

х

- 2.2.6 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS data for Ethyl- 54 (substituted phenyl or tolyl) propanoates.
- 2.2.7 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for Ethyl- 55 (substituted phenyl or tolyl) butanoates.
- 2.2.8 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS data for Ethyl- 56 (substituted phenyl or tolyl) butanoates.
- 2.2.9 <sup>1</sup>H and yield data for Ethyl 57 2-(o-tolyl)propanoate and Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)butanoate.
- 2.2.10 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS data for Ethyl 58 2-(o-tolyl)propanoate and Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)butanoate.

67

68

- 2.3.1 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilic substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with Ethyl Phenylsulphonylacetonitrile.
- 2.3.2 <sup>13</sup>C NMR and IR data for complexes derived from nucleophilic substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with Ethyl Phenylsulphonylacetonitrile.

xi

- 2.3.3 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for phenyl phenyl -sulphonylacetonitrile, m-tolyl(phenylsulphonyl)acetonitrile and p-tolyl (phenylsulphonyl)acetonitrile.
- 2.3.4 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS data for phenyl 74 phenysulphonylacetonitrile, m-tolyl (phenylsulphonyl)acetonitrile and p-tolyl(phenylsulphonyl)acetonitrile.

73

82

- 2.4.1 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and Yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilic substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of dichloroarenes with Ethyl cyanoacetate.
- 2.4.2 <sup>13</sup>C NMR and IR data for complexes 83 derived from nucleophilic substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of dichloroarenes with Ethyl cyanoacetate.
- 2.4.3 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for Ethyl chloro- 84 phenyl(cyano)acetate.
- 2.4.4 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS data for Ethyl 85 chlorophenyl(cyano)acetate.

xii

#### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

Since the discovery of  $bis(\pi-cyclopentadienyliron)$ , widely known as ferrocene, in 1951, the synthesis of transition metal complexes and their effect on the course of chemical reactions has become a very important area of chemistry that is developing at an ever accelerating rate [1,2]. The interaction of an organic molecule with metallic species could lead to the formation of an intermediate organometallic compound. This intermediate could be stable or unstable. The reactivities of these compounds are of interest in synthetic chemistry. The complexed organic ligand could undergo different types of reactions compared to the uncomplexed molecule due to the interaction between the organic ligand and the metal [3].

The use of organotransition metals such as chromium, manganese or iron in organic synthesis usually involves three stages; (i) the complexation of an organic compound to the transition metal; (ii) modification of the organic ligand, which is facilitated by the effects of the complexing metal; (iii) liberation of the modified organic ligand from the metallic moiety [4-6].

1.1 Synthesis of Arene Complexes.

There are a number of well known arene complexes, also recognized as sandwich compounds [7-11]. Examples of symmetrical sandwich complexes include bis(arene)chromium(0) and bis(arene)iron(II). Mixed sandwich compounds such as  $(\eta^6 - \text{ arene })$  metaltricarbonyl and  $(\eta^6 - \text{ arene})$  cyclopentadienylmetal complexes, where the metal could be Cr, Mo, W, Fe or Ru, also constitute a very important class due to the synthetic utility of these complexes in organic chemistry [12-13].

The low cost of the activating iron cyclopentadienyl moiety, the ease of complexation and decomplexation, the less-toxicity, as well as the possibility of using the temporary complexation for multiple activation steps make the iron-mediated reactions a powerful tool in synthetic organic chemistry.

The synthesis of  $n^6$ -arene- $n^5$ -cyclopentadienyl iron complex cations was achieved for the first time through the reactions of cyclopentadienyldicarbonyliron halides with the corresponding aromatic hydrocarbons in the presence of anhydrous aluminum chloride, according to the equation 1.1.



After hydrolysis the complex cation was precipitated by the addition of appropriate anions such as iodide, or tribromide [14,15]. Cations prepared via this method include the benzene derivative  $[(C_5H_5)Fe(C_6H_6)]^+$  and the mesitylene derivative  $\{(C_5H_5)Fe[C_6H_3(CH_3)_3]\}^+$ .

This route to the synthesis of  $[(C_5H_5)Fe(arene)]^+$ cations was made obsolete through the subsequent discovery of the ligand exchange reaction by Nesmeyanov and co-workers [16,17]. They reported that the treatment of ferrocene with the aromatic hydrocarbon at 80-165°C in the presence of a two to four fold excess of aluminium chloride and a stoichiometric quantity of aluminum powder results in substitution of one of cyclopentadienyl (Cp) rings with the aromatic hydrocarbon to give the corresponding  $[(arene)Fe(C_5H_5)]^+$ cation, isolated as its tetrafluoroborate or hexafluorophosphate salt. Various arene cyclopentadienyl complexes, including benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene,

xylene, chlorobenzene and biphenyl could easily be prepared using this methodology (eq. 1.2). In addition to the aromatic hydrocarbons, this group was also capable of preparing substituted toluenes,  $X-C_6H_4-CH_3$ , (X=SCH<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>3</sub>CONH, F) and acetoanilide.



A mechanism for the ligand exchange reaction was first proposed by Nemeyanov et al. [18], and later on by Astruc et al. [19] (Scheme 1). According to this proposed mechanism, the complex formed between the aluminium chloride and the cyclopentadienyl ring allowed for weakening the cyclopentadienyliron bond which then could either break unimolecularly to form the cyclopentadienyliron cation unit, or could be trapped by the cyclopentadienyl anion or by the arene ring to give the  $\eta^{\circ}$ -arene- $\eta^{\circ}$ -cyclopentadienyliron cation.



Scheme 1

A number of NMR studies have been reported for  $\eta^{6}$ -arene- $\eta^{5}$ -cyclopentadienyliron cations [20-29]. The characteristic feature in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of such complex cations is the shift in the cyclopentadienyl protons of about 1-2 ppm downfield from ferrocene. The arene protons are shifted upfield by about 1 ppm from those of the free arene. An extensive study of the <sup>1</sup>H NMR of three related classes of complexes,  $[\eta^{6}-XC_{6}H_{5}-\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5}Fe]^{+}$ ,  $[\eta^{6}-p-XC_{6}H_{4}(CH_{3})-\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5}Fe]^{+}$  and  $[\eta^{6}-C_{6}H_{6}-\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{4}(X)Fe]^{+}$ , were reported by Nesmeyanov and coworkers [26]. <sup>13</sup>C NMR of arene complexes also exhibit an upfield shift of about 40 ppm of the arene carbon compared to those of the uncomplexed arene. In the case of the cyclopentadienyl carbons of these complexes, a downfield shift of about 5-15 ppm from the ferrocene carbons was also reported. A detailed <sup>13</sup>C study by Steele et al. [21] confirmed the results of the earlier studies. In particular, the attempt was made to explain the fact that the chemical shifts of the complexed arenes were observed at fields higher than those for the corresponding free arenes. This effect linked to a variety of possible causes: was (i) metal-to-ligand "-back donation, (ii) ligand "-to-metal donation, (iii) ligand  $\sigma$ -to-metal donation and (iv) anisotropy of the neighboring metal atom.

According to an infrared (IR) study on CpFe complexed conducted arenes by Pavlik and Kriz [30], the cyclopentadienyl ring was characterized by bands at 780, 853, 1006, 1120, 1419 and 3095 cm<sup>-1</sup> which lie in the characteristic range of the *m*-bonded cyclopentadienyl ring. IR investigation of the series An of а monosubstituted complexes has also been reported [31]. The characteristic bands for the complexed benzene ring are 3065, 2926,1445, 1011, 915, 824, and 737  $cm^{-1}$ . The was no effect observed upon the introduction of a substituent into the benzene ring on the frequencies of the cyclopentadienyl ring and vice versa.

# **1.2** Reactivity of Arene complexes.

The coordination of an organic compound to a transition metal greatly alters the properties of the compound such that it could undergo completely different types of reactions from its uncomplexed molecule. In the frame of organometallic chemistry, two concepts illustrating the influence of transition-metal on the organic compounds are of special interest. The first is the activation of an organic molecule by  $\pi$ -coordinated, electron-withdrawing transition-metal groups [32]. For example, aromatic compounds usually

undergo electrophilic reactions but their complexation to metal moieties such as  $Cr(CO)_3$ ,  $FeCp^+$  or  $Mn(CO)_3^+$ , inhibits such reactivity and enhances the possibility of nucleophilic reactions. In a review by Astruc [33], arrangement of different metal activating moieties according to their electron withdrawing ability and the relative rates of their reactions with nucleophiles was reported. The results of this study are shown in Fig.1.



estimation

2.10<sup>3</sup>

Fig. 1

The second concept is to switch the reactivity of the complex by addition or elimination of one or two electrons to or from the complex. This redox change could lead to an increase in the reaction rate by an order of 10<sup>°</sup> [34].

The emphasis of this thesis will focuse on the first concept , namely the effect of the transitionmetal on the reactivity of the organic molecules, especially in the context of nucleophilic substitution reactions.

There are a number of examples of metal-coordinated complexes such as  $CpFe^+$ ,  $Mn(CO)_3^+$  and  $Cr(CO)_3$ , demonstrating the enhanced reactivity of these compounds. Reactions involving each part of the complex, i.e. the cyclopentadienyl ring (in the case of CpFe) and its substituents, the metal atom and the complexed arene ring and its substituents, have been reported [34-39].

# **1.2.1** Nucleophilic Substitution Reactions of Iron Complexes.

Chlorine substituents on either the six- or fivemembered rings in  $[n^6-arene-n^5-cyclopentadienyliron]^+$ derivatives are very reactive towards nucleophilic substitution [40-44]. The displacement of the chloro group could provide a very useful synthetic strategy based on the type and nature of the nucleophile. Also, the FeCp<sup>+</sup> complexes are unique due to their high reactivity and simple synthetic procedure compared to

these of  $Cr(CO)_3$  [45] and various  $Mn(CO)_3$  complexes [46]. It has been estimated that the chloro group in the chlorobenzene ligand is about 1000 times more reactive towards nucleophilic substitution than when it is located on the cyclopentadienyl ring. The FeCp<sup>+</sup> is a good withdrawing group and is equivalent to two nitro groups in terms of activation [36].

The first example of this type of reactions was demonstrated by Nesmeyanov and co-workers [47,48], where the chloro group on the arene ring was substituted by oxygen, sulfur and nitrogen containing nucleophiles (Scheme 2).



#### Scheme 2

Other interesting reaction leading to the formation of phenol and thiophenol complexes was developed by Helling and Hendrickson [49]. In these reactions, the authors synthesized such complexes using the CpFe complex of chlorobenzene with hydroxide or hydrosulfide ions as shown in Scheme 3.



Nu = OH, SH

#### Scheme 3

Other types of O-, S- and N-containing nucleophiles have been utilized for the studies of the aromatic nucleophilic substitution reactions of cyclopentadienyliron complexes of mono- and dichlorobenzene [50,51]. Reactions of the dichlorobenzene complexes with anions of phenol, p-thiocresol, methanol or benzyl alcohol, as the source of nucleophile, resulted in the disubstitution of both chloro groups. Under conditions of high dilution monosubstitution of only one chloro group occurred. The nucleophilic aromatic substitution

(S<sub>N</sub>Ar) of the nitro group in nitro-arene reaction complexes worked almost as well as that of Cl<sup>-</sup>. Such substitutions were achieved with 0,S, and Ν nucleophilies [51]. The  $[(C_5H_5)Fe(C_6H_5Cl)]$ [BF⊿] complex will also undergo nucleophilic substitution reaction with the sodium salt of a number of nucleophiles to give the corresponding  $[(C_5H_5)Fe]$  $(C_6H_5X)$ ]<sup>+</sup> derivative [52,53].

Besides the use of 0-, Sand nitrogen nucleophiles, carbon nucleophiles were also used to obtain a C-C bond. Lee et al. [50, 54], have used numerous carbon nucleophiles in the reactions with CpFe complexes of chloroarenes and nitroarenes. These nucleophiles include anions of acetylacetate, dibenzoylmethane and diethylmalonate. As an example, Scheme 4 [54] shows the reaction between chloroarene or nitroarene complexes and diethylmalonate. These reactions were carried out under very mild conditions resulting in the formation of C-C bonds. The yields were also quite high, thus offering a potentially useful synthetic route. Moriarty and co-workers [55,56] have also reported the nucleophilic substitution of Cl by stabilized carbanions, thus allowing the formation of C-C bond formation between the arene and an aliphatic or aromatic part. The carbanions used are stabilized in

the benzylic positions by two carbonyl groups and generated by deprotonation of nucleophilies such as the anions of: diethylmalonate, 2,4-pentadione, benzylacetone, phenylsulphonylacetone, and (phenylsulphonyl)ethyl acetate.



R = H,  $CH_3$ X = C1,  $NO_2$ 

## Scheme 4

An attempt was also made to obtain disubstituted product [54]. It was observed however that deprotonation of a substitution product could give rise to a Zwitterion- cyclopentadienyl complex which would be more electron- rich than the starting dichlorobenzene complexes, and hence the second chloro group would not be displaced by the nucleophile as shown in eq.1.3 [54].



The disubstituted products were achieved when anions of diethyl ethylmalonate or diethyl methylmalonate were used as nucleophiles [57]. In this case, it was noticed that p- and m-dichlorobenzene complexes underwent  $S_NAr$ reactions to produce the disubstituted product while o-dichloro-benzene complex failed to give such a product due to some steric hindrance.

1.3 Liberation of the Modified Arenes from their Metal Moieties.

There are two general methods for decomplexation of  $n^{6}$ -arenes from their metal complexes [3]. These methods involve the displacement reactions of the arene ligands by other ligands and the removal of arenes using redox processes.

Oxidative methods include photolysis [58-60], Ce (IV),  $I_2$  [61], KMnO<sub>4</sub>, and MnO<sub>2</sub> [62]. Nesmeyanov et al., noted in 1963 that light accelerated the decomplexation of  $n^{6}$ -arene  $-n^{5}$ -cyclopentadienyliron cations in solution [63]. Later, Nesmeyanov investigated the effects of the irradiation of arene with light of wavelength 253-577 A disproportionation reaction took place mμ [64]. resulting in the free arene and the ferrocene. The study conducted by Gill and Mann [65-68] concentrated on photochemically the induced reactions using the cyclopentadienyliron complex of xylene. In the course of their study it was shown that the arene ligand can be replaced one 6-electron by ligand (for example, hexamethylbenzene, cycloheptatriene and cycloctatetraene) or by three 2-electron ligands (such as trialkyl or triaryl phosphines, isocyanides, cyanides and CO) as described in eq.1.4.

Photolytic demetallation was also used by Abd-El-Aziz and de Denus [69,70] as part of а organometallic preparative approach in organic synthesis. Their studies have proven that photolytic liberation is a very effective method for the recovery of such organic compounds isomeric as some tolylcyanoacetates and arylated phenylsulphonylacetonitriles using dichloromethane/



acetonitrile as a solvent.

Lee, Sutherland and their coworkers have utilized pyrolytic sublimation [71-73] as an alternative route for the liberation of arene ligands from their respective CpFe complexed cations. Both the pyrolytic sublimation and photolysis has proven to be successful in liberating the free arene ligand from the CpFe complexes.

Electrolysis has also been utilized in the removal of CpFe from arene ligands. Early electrochemical studies of arene cyclopentadienyliron compounds were carried out by Dessy et. al. [74], and have shown that the benzene and alkyl benzene complexes could add 1 electron to produce neutral complexes. Nesmeyanov et al. [75], observed that the arene complex exhibits two monoelectronic reduction waves for cyclopentadienyliron

complexed arenes. Later it was shown by El Murr [76] that the first electron transfer step lead to the formation of an electroneutral 19 electron iron complex, while the transfer of the second electron gave a 20 electron anionic complex. Darchen [77,78] has also reported that the formation of an electroneutral iron complex would allow the exchange of the arene ligand for two molecules of the solvent (MeCN) with the formation of the 17-electron (MeCN)<sub>2</sub>CpFe<sup>+</sup>, or the exchange of the arene ligand for three P(OMe)<sub>3</sub> groups. Moinet et al. [79], have observed that the electroneutral complexes generated by the electrolysis of the corresponding arene complexes were unstable in water, water/alcohol or alcohol, and would undergo either decomposition, dimerization or catalytic reactions depending on the nature of the solvent and the arene. Moreover, Bowyer et al. [80], have also reported the decomposition of monobis(iron)cyclophane complexes and to qive cyclophane, ferrocene and metallic iron. Others have successfully utilized the electrochemical method for the liberation of some functionalized arenes such as benzophenone and diethyl ethylphenylmalonate from their respective hexafluorophosphates [81,82].

1.4 Traditional Synthetic Routes for the Target Compounds: Arylated Alkanoic Acids and Various Heterocyclic Precursors.

1.4.1 Arylated Alkanoic Acids

Due to the therapeutic importance ,non-steroidal antiinflammatory agents (NSAI) constitute one of the largest class of drugs [83-85]. These compounds can be categorized, into three main classes, according to their chemical structure [86].

- Benzoic derivatives, in which aspirin is the most important representative.
- (2) Aryl acetic acid compounds such as indomethacin, sulindac, diclofenac and ibufenac (Fig.2).
- (3) ∝-Aryl propionic acids with ibuprofen as the highlight (Fig.2).



Ibuprofen

Ibufenac



Among numerous mild anti-inflammatory, analgesic and antipyretic agents, aspirin has been the drug of choice for many decades. The side effects caused by the use of aspirin such as nausea, diarrhea, heartburn or leukopenia, gave rise to the search for NSAI agents with higher therapeutic activity and fewer side effects [87]. An interest in arylacetic acids, as one type of potentially useful NSAI agents, had developed in several laboratories. The initial studies, conducted at Boots and Merck, had utilized two plant growth regulators, indolylacetic acid and phenoxyacetic acid as basic structures for the preparation of arylacetic acids and subsequently NSAI agents [88,89]. Hydrophobic substitutions, effectively applied as activity-enhancing
groups in many pharmacological agents, in the form of aryl or alkyl substituents, readily converted these plant growth regulators into derivatives highly active in animal assays such as foot-edema, UV erythema, and adjuvant arthritis [85].

Further investigations in the field of arylacetic acids indicated that the methyl group introduction into the aliphatic side chain of substituted aryl acetic acids is very beneficial in enhancing anti-inflammatory activity of NSAI agents, such as ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen and suprofen [90-95]. This success in the preparation of NSAI agents with higher therapeutic activity and milder side effects than aspirin, could explain in part the proliferation of the synthetic methods leading to these types of compounds. According to the building mode for the aliphatic side chain it was possible to differentiate several main synthetic routes for the preparation of substituted aryl acetic acids [86]. These include the introduction of the methyl radical to phenylacetic acid derivatives and terminal building of the carboxylic group through functionalization or by oxidation. In the frame of our work the second approach, namely carboxylic function introduction, is significant and shall be briefly reviewed.

There are many ways to prepare 2-aryl propionic acids and their derivatives from the secondary  $\alpha$ -aryl alkyl halide using classical organic methods. The synthesis of these halides was also derived from the standard procedures of reduction of acetophenones into the corresponding secondary alcohols followed by halogenation with hydrochloric acid as shown in Scheme 5 [96].



#### Scheme 5

Another way of preparing alkanoic acids is via epoxides. In this case, trimethylsulfonium iodide is added to acetophenones in a basic medium to give 3-aryl 1,2- epoxypropanes intermediates which then rearrange into hydratropaldehydes [97]. Through the subsequent oxidation of aldehydes the corresponding acids are obtained (Scheme 6). This process is applied to the synthesis of ibuprofen as well as naproxen and ketoprofen in almost quantitative yield.



i) Me<sub>3</sub>SI, NaH, DMSO/THF, 0°C, 0.25h then 25°C, 1.5h
ii) fluorisil PhH

### Scheme 6

One of the most useful synthetic methods for the preparation of alkanoic acid esters is Darzens' reaction, which involves condensation of chloroacetonitrile with acetophenones as described in Scheme 7 [98].





i) chloroacetonitrile in t-AmONA/t-AMOH ii) LiCLO<sub>4</sub>, PhMe, reflux iii) NaOH(aq)

Scheme 7

McKillop et al. [99] have developed yet another method of synthesis for arylated alkanoic acids using thallium salt as shown in Scheme 8. Their synthesis involved a direct conversion of alkyl aryl ketones into esters of  $\alpha$ -arylalkanoic acids by thallium(III)-promoted rearrangement.



Scheme 8

Arylated phenylsulphonylacetonitriles are very attractive starting materials for а variety of arylalkanoic acids and their derivatives of pharmaceutical interest [100, 101]. In the synthetic reported by method Suzuki et al. [101], arylated phenylsulphonylacetonitriles were prepared by the mode of nucleophilic substitution of aryl iodide and phenylsulphonylacetonitrile using sodium hydride as a base and copper(I) iodide as a catalyst. Subsequent alkylation, hydrogenation and hydrolysis produced the alkanoic acids (Scheme 9).



Scheme 9

Since the most complicated step in this synthesis was that of nucleophilic substitution, Sakamoto et al. [102] modified Suzuki's method and utilized palladium(0) as a catalyst. In spite of the drawbacks resulting from the reaction conditions, namely high temperatures and solvents, mono- and para-disubstituted very toxic compounds were obtained in fairly good yields. However, it has been reported that chlorobenzene fails to react under the condition outlined above. It was also observed that when substituents were placed at the ortho position on the aromatic ring the dramatic decrease in the alkanoic acid yield was observed.

1.4.2 Heterocyclic Precursors.

The ethyl arylcyanoacetates have been recognized as useful intermediates in the synthesis of various heterocyclic compounds such as azetinones, pyrimidines and oxazaphosphorinane derivatives [103-107]. There has been considerable interest in the development of more efficient synthetic routes leading to their preparation.

Although alkyl cyanoacetates are easily obtained from the direct nucleophilic substitution of ethyl cyanoacetate with alkyl halides, aryl halides do not react with the anions under the same conditions. In order to promote nucleophilic substitution reaction on the aromatic ring for the synthesis of ethyl arylcyanoacetates, numerous reagents and catalysts such as copper (I)iodide, aryllead triacetate or  $PdX_2L_2$  have been applied [108,109]. Osuka et al. [109], reported a simple, one-step synthesis of arylated cyanoacetates via a copper(I) promoted arylation of cyanocetate with nonactivated aryl halide (Scheme 10). The arylation procceeded smoothly with aryl iodides, giving corresponding arylcyanoacetates in 70-73 % yields, however results were rather poor with aryl bromides. The reaction with aryl chlorides failed.



#### Scheme 10

A very convenient method of synthesis of alkyl arylcyanoacetates via palladium-catalyzed aromatic substitution was reported in 1985 by Uno et al. [110]. Their study has indicated that in the presence of the palladium catalyst, namely dichlorobis [triphenylphosphine]palladium, aryl halides and metallated alkyl cyanoacetate in monoglyme reacted successfully to give ethyl  $\alpha$ -cyano(phenyl)acetates in qood yield (73-78%). Other iodoarenes such as iodotoluene, chloroiodobenzene, and iodonaphtalene reacted similarly with the anion, and the iodine atom on the aromatic ring was formally replaced by an ethoxycarbonyl(cyano)methyl group, giving the arylcyanoacetates in moderate yields (36-45%) [110].

1.5 Nature and Scope of the Present Work.

Nucleophilic substitution reactions of arenes complexed with cyclopentadienyliron(FeCp) could give rise to functionalization of the arene ring. This would, in turn provide a synthetically useful method for the preparation of organic compounds which potential use in medicinal chemistry.

The present work examines the utility of the nucleophilic substitution reactions of the FeCp complexes of chlorobenzenes and chlorotoluenes with carbon containing nucleophiles, such as ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate, ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate, ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile and ethylcyanoacetate, followed by photolytic demetallation. would provide This an alternative route towards the synthesis of arylated alkanoic acid and heterocyclic precursors.

## 2.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.1 Synthesis of Chloroarene Complexes.

The Lewis acid catalyzed ligand exchange reaction between ferrocene and a suitable arene was first explained and successfully conducted by Nesmeyanov and coworkers in 1963 [16,17]. In a typical ligand exchange reaction, the ratios of ferrocene : AlCl<sub>3</sub> : Al : Arene used were 1:2:1:excess respectively. Arenes which exist as liquids require no solvent for reaction but those which occur in solid state are generally carried out in decalin or cyclohexane. The resulting cationic product is often isolated as its tetrafluoroborate or hexafluorophosphate salt. In general, the hexafluorophosphate anion is utilized due to the higher product yields and stability.

In this work, we have prepared chlorobenzene, isomeric chlorotoluenes and isomeric dichlorobenzenes. The detailed experimental procedures for the synthesis of these types of complexes are described in section 3.1. The results of characterization of these complexes, as well as their yields agree very well with literature data [15-23]. As an example, the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C(APT: Attached Proton Test) NMR spectra of p-chlorotoluene are shown in Fig.3 and 4.







 $\eta^{5}$ -(cyclopentadienyl)hexafluorophosphate in  $CD_{3}COCD_{3}$ .

2.2 Synthesis of Some Alkanoic Acid Esters.

As stated in section 1.4.1, NSAI agents constitute one of the largest classes of drugs. Within this class of drugs the  $\alpha$ -aryl propionic acids, as possible nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agents, are of special interest to our research, since it could be prepared using cyclopentadienyliron moiety as an activating group.

The number of methods proposed for the preparation of arylated alkanoic acids demonstrates the importance of these derivatives. The search for new synthetic methods has pointed out certain limitations of the initial methods. For example, the synthetic utility of the Willgerold- Kindler [85] reaction was limited by: reaction (a) the conditions, which involve high temperatures and sometimes high pressures; (b) the tedious and rather complicated isolation techniques; and (c) the yield of the products, which in many cases, is modest.

Some of the other methods for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -arylalkanoic acids, such as Danrzen's reaction, 1,2-Aryl Shift, are also limited by their required reaction conditions, yields, or the toxicity of some of the employed reagents [96-98].

Our interest in this field was directed towards the development of a new, economical, and less toxic synthetic route for the preparation of these types of compounds. Aromatic nucleophilic substitution reactions of  $n^6$ -arene- $n^5$ -cyclopentadienyliiron complexes with various carbon nucleophilies, followed by photolysis, have proven to fulfill the requirements specified above.

## 2.2.1 Synthesis of Ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate

and Ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate.

Due to our interest in the formation of C-C bond, we have prepared ethyl methylacetoacetate and ethyl ethylacetoacetate according to the procedure outlined in Scheme 11 and described in the experimental section 3.2.2 [111]. The <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of ethyl methylacetoacetate are shown in Fig.5 and 6. These nucleophiles were then utilized in the aromatic nucleophilic substitution reactions.



## **2.2.2** Arylation of Ethyl 2-Methylacetoacetate and Ethyl 2-Ethylacetoacetate.

Aromatic nucleophilic substitution reactions  $(S_NAr)$ of arenes complexed to a metal moiety have been under investigation with various nucleophiles and different metallic species as possible routes for the synthesis of a wide range of organic compounds which could be useful in medicinal chemistry [50,51,54-57,69,70]. In the present work we have utilized this synthetic approach for the preparation of some complexed alkanoic acid esters.

The hexafluorophosphate salts of the complexed chlorobenzene (4) and isomeric chlorotoluenes (5,6) were utilized in this study (Scheme 12). The synthesis of these complexes are described in Section 3.1.1. Treatment of (4,5,6,) with ethyl methylacetoacetate or



Fig.5 <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate in  $CDCl_3$ .



ethyl ethyl- acetoacetate in the presence of potassium carbonate in DMF (N,N-dimethylformamide) gave the nucleophilic substitution products (7-9 and 13-15) with deacylation, as shown in Schemes 12 an 13. Moriarty and Gill [55,56] have observed the same phenomenon of deacylation when ethyl acetoacetate was used as a nucleophile. As illustrated in Schemes 12 and 13, the cyclopentadienyliron complexes of arylated ethyl propanoates and ethyl butanoates were easily prepared.



These complexes were obtained in very good yields (71-89%). The structures of these new complexes were then determined using IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR. Chemical shifts and splitting patterns in both proton and carbon spectra indicate that deacylation occurred prior to the isolation of these complexes. The representative spectra of the complexes of interest are shown in Fig. 7-10.



This data, which are summarized in Tables 2.2.1, 2.2.2 2.2.3 and 2.2.4, are in full agreement with the expected values. The values for the stretching frequencies of the carbonyl groups, ranging from 1740 to  $1735 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ , provide further proof for the presence of the ester carbonyl group, and furthermore, for the structure of these complexes.

Besides the use of complexed m- and p-chlorotoluenes we have also used the o-chlorotoluene complex in this study. In these reactions, we always obtained a mixture of two products, the deacylated and the non-deacylated complexes (20a,b and 21a,b) as shown in Scheme 14.











| Complex | % Yield | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, pp<br>Aromatic | om), (C<br>Cp | D3COCD3)<br>Others                                    |
|---------|---------|---------------------------------------|---------------|---|
| 7       | 71.6    | 6.50 (5H, br s,ArH)                   | 5.20          | 4.26 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.0, CH <sub>2</sub> )           |
|         |         |                                       |               | 4.00 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH)                          |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.67 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <i>CH3</i> )              |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.27 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )             |
| 8       | 74.9    | 6.42 (4H,br s,ArH)                    | 5.15          | 4.25 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <sub>2</sub> )            |
|         |         |                                       |               | 4.05 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH)                          |
|         |         |                                       |               | 2.57 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.65 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <i>CH3</i> )              |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.28 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH</i> 3) |
| 9       | 84.0    | 6.38 (4H,br s,ArH)                    | 5.13          | 4.22 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>2</sub> )            |
|         |         |                                       |               | 4.03 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH)                          |
|         |         |                                       |               | 2.54 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.62 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <i>CH3</i> )              |
|         |         |                                       |               | 1.26 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )             |
|         |         |                                       |               |   |

Table 2.2.1<sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilic<br/>substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with<br/>ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate

|         | ethyl 2-me                         | ethylacetoacetate                          |  |
|---------|------------------------------------|--|--|
|         |                                    | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppm                | n), (CD3COCD3)                               |
| Complex | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | Aromatic                                   | Others                                       |
| 7       | 1735 (CO)                          | 107.33 <sup>*</sup> ,89.16,                | 172.50(CO),78.39(Cp),                        |
|         |                                    | 89.08,88.94,                               | 62.61(CH <sub>2</sub> ),44.86(CH),           |
|         |                                    | 88.93,88.59                                | 18.81(CH <i>CH3</i> ),14.74(CH2 <i>CH3</i> ) |
| 8       | 1740 (CO)                          | 106.30 <sup>*</sup> ,104.11 <sup>*</sup> , | 172.48(CO),78.19(Cp),                        |
|         |                                    | 88.80,88.15,                               | 62.12(CH <sub>2</sub> ),44.29(CH),           |
|         |                                    | 86.12,85.44                                | 20.54(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),18.49(CH <i>CH3</i> ), |
|         |                                    |  | 14.32(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                       |
| 9       | 1740 (CO)                          | 105.08 <sup>*</sup> ,104.19 <sup>*</sup> , | 172.91(CO),78.24(Cp),                        |
|         |                                    | 88.92,88.86,                               | 62.11(CH <sub>2</sub> ),43.98(CH),           |
|         |                                    | 87.43,86.66                                | 20.30(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),18.27(CH <i>CH3</i> ), |
|         |                                    |  | 14.28(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                       |

Table 2.2.213C NMR and IR data for complexes derived from nucleophilic<br/>substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with<br/>ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate

\* denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

| Table 2.2.3 | <sup>1</sup> H NMR and yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilic |
|-------------|---|
|             | substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with             |
|             | ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate   |

|         |         | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, | ppm), ( | (CD3COCD3)  |
|---------|---------|------------------------|---------|---|
| Complex | % Yield | Aromatic               | Ср      | Others  |
| 13      | 72.5    | 6.53 (5H, br s,ArH)    | 5.16    | 4.36 (2H,q,J7.0,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)                   |
|         |         |                        |         | 3.78 (1H,t,J7.1,CH)                                   |
|         |         |                        |         | 1.91 (2H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                           |
|         |         |                        |         | 1.35 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> )          |
|         |         |                        |         | 0.98 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )             |
| 14      | 71.4    | 6.42 (4H,br s,ArH)     | 5.12    | 4.35 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)          |
|         |         |                        |         | 3.80 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH)                          |
|         |         |                        |         | 2.58 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |
|         |         |                        |         | 1.92 (2H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                           |
|         |         |                        |         | 1.37 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> )          |
|         |         |                        |         | 0.98 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH3</i> ) |
| 15      | 76.1    | 6.40 (4H,br s,ArH)     | 5.10    | 4.12 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.2,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)          |
|         |         |                        |         | 3.56 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH)                          |
|         |         |                        |         | 2.55 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |
|         |         |                        |         | 1.12 (3H,t,J 7.2,COOCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
|         |         |                        |         | 0.95 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH3</i> ) |

| Complex | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppn<br>Aromatic                                   | n), (CD3COCD3)<br>Others   |
|---------|------------------------------------|---|--|
| 13      | 1730 (CO)                          | 106.13 <sup>*</sup> ,89.44,<br>89.36,89.07,<br>88.96,87.47                | 172.74(CO),78.39(Cp),<br>62.63(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>52.34(CH),29.63( <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>14.87(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),<br>12.59(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                           |
| 14      | 1735 (CO)                          | 105.10 <sup>*</sup> ,104.57 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>89.52,87.87,<br>86.86,84.99 | 172.27(CO),78.19(Cp),<br>62.11(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>51.83(CH),29.24( <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>20.49(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),<br>14.41(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),<br>12.14(CH2 <i>CH3</i> ) |
| 15      | 1733 (CO)                          | 104.13 <sup>*</sup> ,103.84 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>89.19,88.82,<br>88.07,86.23 | 172.22(CO),78.23(Cp),<br>62.09(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>51.41(CH),28.65( <i>CH2</i> CH3),<br>20.33(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),<br>14.39(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),<br>12.09(CH2 <i>CH3</i> ) |

Table 2.2.413C NMR, and IR data for complexes derived from nucleophilic<br/>substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with<br/>ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

The proton NMR spectra of these mixtures were complicated, however the ratio of the two complexes were determined from the integrals of the cyclopentadienyl protons. This assignment was made on the basis of the distinctiveness of the two singlets of the cyclopentadienyl protons. The ratio varied from 1:1 to 2:1 in favour of the deacylated product.

# 2.2.3 Photolysis of the CpFe Complexes of Alkanoic Acid Esters.

Liberation of the alkanoic acid esters from their FeCp complexes is one the most important steps in this synthetic strategy. Since photoylsis is known to be an efficient route for the decomplexation of some (arene) cyclopentadienyliron complexes [69,70], we successfully applied this technique in the liberation of the desired products from their CpFe moieties. Complexes (7-9), and (13-15) were dissolved in a mixture of acetonitrile/ dichloromethane and were irradiated for 4 hours under a nitrogen atmosphere using a Xenon Lamp as the source of radiation. Purification of the products by column chromatography resulted in the isolation of the free esters (10-12 and 16-18) in yields ranging from 79-86%.

In the case of the complexed ortho substituents (20 a,b, and 21 a,b,) the mixture was subjected to radiation as above. We were able to isolate the two uncomplexed products separately using column chromatography.

The photolysis of these mixtures resulted in an enrichment in the ratio of the deacylated to the non deacylated products, which indicated that deacylation also took place during photolysis. Fig.11 and 12 show the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR of the main product (deacetylated) after photolysis. The overall yields calculated on the basis of the chloroarene complexes of these deacylated products 22 a,b and 23 a,b are listed in Table 2.2.9. and Table 2.2.10.

The identities of all products were confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR and MS and are listed in Tables 2.2.5., 2.2.6., 2.2.7., and 2.2.8, as well as 2.2.9., and 2.2.10. The major differences in the proton and carbon NMR of these compounds and the complexes were the absence of the cyclopentadienyl peak and the downfield shift of the arene peaks, as shown in Fig. 11, 12, 13 and 14.

Although some of these alkanoic acid esters have been prepared previously, our method offers an alternative route to the synthesis of the these compounds with high efficiency, high yield, accessibility and low cost of the starting materials.









in  $CDCl_3$ .



|          |         | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, pr | om), (CDCl3)                                 |
|----------|---------|---------------------------|--|
| Compound | % Yield | Aromatic                  | Others                                       |
| 10       | 86.8    | 7.25 (5H, br s,ArH)       | 4.06 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )                 |
|          |         |                           | 3.64 (1H,q,J7.2,CH)                          |
|          |         |                           | 1.43 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH <i>CH3</i> )     |
|          |         |                           | 1.14 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )    |
|          | 82.3    | 7.39-7.22 (4H,m,ArH)      | 4.26 (2H,m,CH2)                              |
|          |         |                           | 3.80 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH)                 |
|          |         |                           | 2.48 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                   |
|          |         |                           | 1.62 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <i>CH3</i> )     |
|          |         |                           | 1.35 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1, <i>CH2</i> CH3)    |
| 12       | 79.2    | 7.31-7.17 (4H,m,ArH)      | 4.20 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )                 |
|          |         |                           | 3.72 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH)                 |
|          |         |                           | 2.39 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                   |
|          |         |                           | 1.53 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <i>CH3</i> )     |
|          |         |                           | 1.26 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ) |
|          |         |                           |  |

Table 2.2.5 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for ethyl-(substituted phenyl or tolyl) propanoates

53

|                                    | 13 <sub>C NMR</sub> (δ, ppm), (CDCl3)                      |   |   |
|------------------------------------|--|---|---|
| i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | m/z<br>(M+)  | Aromatic  | Others  |
| 1740(CO)                           | 178  | 140.72 <sup>*</sup> ,128.54,  | 174.50(CO),60.67(CH <sub>2</sub> ),   |
|                                    |  | 127.45,127.01   | 45.59(CH),18.58(CH <i>CH3</i> ),  |
|                                    |  |   | 14.11(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )  |
| 1730(CO)                           | 192  | 140.65 <sup>*</sup> ,138.17 <sup>*</sup> ,  | 174.60(CO),60.65(CH <sub>2</sub> ),   |
|                                    |  | 128.44,128.16,  | 45.50(CH),21.40(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),  |
|                                    |  | 127.78,124.46   | 18.63(CH <i>CH3</i> ),  |
|                                    |  |   | 14.11(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )  |
| 1730(CO)                           | 192  | 137.73 <sup>*</sup> ,136.59 <sup>*</sup> ,  | 174.86(CO),60.59(CH <sub>2</sub> ),   |
|                                    |  | 129.22,127.29,  | 45.14(CH),22.93(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),  |
|                                    |  |   | 18.59(CH <i>CH3</i> ),  |
|                                    |  |   | 14.08(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )  |
|                                    | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat)<br>1740(CO)<br>1730(CO) | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> ) m/z<br>(M <sup>+</sup> )<br>1740(CO) 178<br>1730(CO) 192<br>1730(CO) 192 | $\begin{array}{c} 13 \text{C NMR } (\delta, \\ \text{Aromatic} \\ (\text{neat}) & (\text{M}^+) \end{array} \\ 1740(\text{CO}) & 178 & 140.72^*, 128.54, \\ & 127.45, 127.01 \\ 1730(\text{CO}) & 192 & 140.65^*, 138.17^*, \\ & 128.44, 128.16, \\ & 127.78, 124.46 \\ \end{array} \\ 1730(\text{CO}) & 192 & 137.73^*, 136.59^*, \\ & 129.22, 127.29, \end{array}$ |

Table 2.2.6 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR, and MS data for ethyl-(substituted phenyl or tolyl) propanoates

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

|          | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, ppm), (CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) |                      |  |  |
|----------|---|----------------------|--|--|
| Compound | % Yield   | Aromatic             | Others   |  |
| 16       | 82.2  | 7.25 (5H, br s,ArH)  | 4.07(2H,m,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)                            |  |
|          |   |                      | 3.37 (1H,t, <i>J</i> 8.0,CH)                             |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.72 (2H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                              |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.14 (3H,t,J7.0,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> )                      |  |
|          |   |                      | 0.83 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                |  |
| 17       | 82.5  | 7.37-7.20 (4H,m,ArH) | 4.22 (2H,m, COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)                          |  |
|          |   |                      | 3.45 (1H,t, <i>J</i> 7.7,CH)                             |  |
|          |   |                      | 2.46 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                               |  |
|          |   |                      | 2.18 (1H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                              |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.90 (1H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                              |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.33 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,COOCH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH3</i> ) |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.02 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                |  |
| 18       | 80.1  | 7.21-7.10 (4H,m,ArH) | 4.07 (2H,m,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)                           |  |
|          |   |                      | 3.43 (1H,t, <i>J</i> 7.5,CH)                             |  |
|          |   |                      | 2.83 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                               |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.74 (2H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                              |  |
|          |   |                      | 1.15 (3H,t,J 7.2,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> )                     |  |
|          |   |                      | 0.85 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                |  |
|          |   |                      |  |  |

Table 2.2.7 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for ethyl-(substituted phenyl or tolyl) butanoates
|          |                                    |             | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppm), (CDCl3)      |   |  |
|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|--|---|--|
| Compound | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | m/z<br>(M+) | Aromatic                                   | Others  |  |
| 16       | 1738(CO)                           | 192         | 139.52 <sup>*</sup> ,128.73,               | 174.10(CO),   |  |
|          |                                    |             | 128.18,127.31                              | 60.80(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 53.80(CH),27.04(CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH<sub>3</sub></i> ) |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 14.38(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 12.38(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                                  |  |
| 17       | 1740(CO)                           | 206         | 139.18 <sup>*</sup> ,138.02 <sup>*</sup> , | 174.05(CO),   |  |
|          |                                    |             | 128.58,128.32,                             | 60.46(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             | 127.79,124.92                              | 53.46(CH),26.78(CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH</i> 3)            |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 21.35(ArCH <sub>3</sub> ),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 14.17(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 12.13(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                                  |  |
| 18       | 1730(CO)                           | 206         | 137.48 <sup>*</sup> ,137.25 <sup>*</sup> , | 174.23(CO),   |  |
|          |                                    |             | 129.88,128.56,                             | 60.78(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 53.62(CH),27.56(CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH</i> 3)            |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 20.96(ArCH <sub>3</sub> ),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 14.47(COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> ),                              |  |
|          |                                    |             |  | 12.32(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )                                  |  |

Table 2.2.8 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR, and MS data for ethyl-(substituted phenyl or tolyl) butanoates

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

| <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, ppm), (CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) |         |                      |   |  |  |
|---|---------|----------------------|---|--|--|
| Compound  | % Yield | Aromatic             | Others  |  |  |
|   |         |                      |   |  |  |
| 22a   | 57.3    | 7.34-7.25 (4H,m,ArH) | 4.21 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )                          |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 4.02 (1H,q, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH)                          |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 2.46 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 1.55 (3H,d, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <i>CH3</i> )              |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 1.28 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH3</i> ) |  |  |
|   |         |                      |   |  |  |
| 22b   | 55.8    | 7.29-7.12 (4H,m,ArH) | 4.09 (2H,m,COO <i>CH2</i> CH3)                        |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 3.72 (1H,t,J 7.1,CH)                                  |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 2.37 (3H,s,Ar <i>CH3</i> )                            |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 2.08 (1H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                           |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 1.75 (1H,m, <i>CH2</i> CH3)                           |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 1.16 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,COOCH2 <i>CH3</i> )          |  |  |
|   |         |                      | 0.90 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <sub>2</sub> <i>CH3</i> ) |  |  |

# Table 2.2.9<sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)propanoate and ethyl2-(o-tolyl)butanoate

|          |                                    |             | 13C NMR (δ, μ                              | opm), (CDCl3)                       |
|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|--|-------------------------------------|
| Compound | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | m/z<br>(M+) | Aromatic                                   | Others                              |
| 22a      | 1735(CO)                           | 192         | 139.27 <sup>*</sup> ,135.66 <sup>*</sup> , | 174.79(CO),60.64(CH <sub>2</sub> ), |
|          |                                    |             | 130.43,126.83,                             | 41.41(CH),19.57(Ar <i>CH3</i> ),    |
|          |                                    |             | 126.48,126.36                              | 17.88(CH <i>CH3</i> ),              |
|          |                                    |             |  | 14.12(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )              |
| 22b      | 1728(CO)                           | 206         | 137.78 <sup>*</sup> ,137.11 <sup>*</sup> , | 172.60(CO),                         |
|          |                                    |             | 130.32,126.73,                             | 60.47(COO <i>CH2</i> CH3),          |
|          |                                    |             | 126.25,126.11                              | 48.74(CH),26.27( <i>CH2</i> CH3)    |
|          |                                    |             |  | 19.75 (Ar <i>CH3</i> ),             |
|          |                                    |             |  | 14.13(COOCH <i>CH3</i> ),           |
|          |                                    |             |  | 12.22(CH2 <i>CH3</i> )              |
|          |                                    |             |  |                                     |

 Table 2.2.10
 13C NMR, IR, and MS data for ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)propanoate and ethyl

 2-(o-tolyl)butanoate

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

2.3 Reactions of Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles.

There has been considerable interest in the development of new and efficient routes to the synthesis of arylated phenylsulphonylacetonitriles [106-110]. They are of importance, as very attractive starting materials, in the synthesis of alkanoic acids. Since the synthesis of arylated phenylsulphonyl- acetonitriles cannot achieved directly through nucleophilic be substitution reactions of ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile anion with aryl halides, a number of synthetic strategies were developed to prepare arylated phenylsulphonylacetonitriles. These involve the application of certain organometallic reagents or catalysts to promote nucleophilic substitution on the aromatic ring [96]. In these types of reactions the most problematic step is the nucleophilic aromatic substitution. Recently, Abd-El-Aziz and de Denus have demonstrated that arylation of phenylsulphonylacetonitrile could be achieved using organoiron complexes [69]. Here we extended our investigation by preparing substituted phenylsulfonylacetonitriles and examining their reactivity towards CpFe arene complexes.

2.3.1 Synthesis of Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile.

The synthetic route towards desired arylated ethyl phenylsulphonylacetonitriles began with the preparation of the source of a free nucleophile, namely ethyl phenylsulphonylacetonitrile. As illustrated in Scheme 15, the synthesis of targeted nucleophile involved two major steps. First is the deprotonation of the methylene group, and the second involved an alkylation reaction using ethyl bromide, which led to the desired compound. The detailed experimental procedure for the preparation and purification of ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile is described in section 3.3.1. The spectral data are listed in the experimental section and the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR are shown in Fig. 15 and 16.



Scheme 15







2.3.2 Arylation of Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile.

After our success in the synthesis of the nucleophile, we examined the reactivity of this nucleophile with arene complexes.

The reaction between ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile and the iron complexes (4-6) in the presence of potassium carbonate in N,N-dimethylformamide, led to the formation of complexed arylated ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles (26-28) as shown in Scheme 16.

These complexes were isolated as yellow-brown solids in very good yields (79-85%). <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR as well as IR were utilized for the characterization of the prepared complexes. The representative NMR spectra for an example of complexed arylated ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile is shown in Fig. 17 and 18. In the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of these complexes, a very distinctive singlet appeared around  $\delta$  5.30-5.36. This is characteristic of the cyclopentadienyl(Cp) ring. For the complexes (26-28) the phenylsulphonyl protons appeared as multiplets in the regions between  $\delta$  7.61-7.64 (4H) and  $\delta$  7.67-7.89 The aromatic protons for the complexes specified (1H). above showed resonance in the region between 6.72-6.24, depending on the substitution pattern. The <sup>13</sup>C NMR(APT) was also in agreement with expectations, as shown in Tables 2.3.1., and 2.3.2. The characteristic peak of Cp moiety appeared for desired complexes at 79.07 (26),



The aromatic carbons resonated in the regions between 106.84 to 98.49, with the quaternary carbon on the aromatic ring at 98.49 for monosubstituted product, at 105.16 and 99.00 for p-CH<sub>3</sub> substituted complex, and at 106.84 and 96.42 for m-CH<sub>3</sub> substituted complex. The IR analysis confirmed the presence of CN and SO<sub>2</sub> groups, since the characteristic stretches for these groups appeared at 2340 and 1335, 1160 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.





Table 2.3.1<sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilic<br/>substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with<br/>ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile

|         |         | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, p     | opm), (CD | 3COCD3)                                     |
|---------|---------|------------------------------|-----------|---|
| Complex | % Yield | Aromatic                     | Ср        | Others                                      |
| 26      | 79.0    | 6.72 (2H, m, ArH)            | 5.36      | 7.89 (1H, m, SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)            |
|         |         | 6.57 (1H, m, ArH)            |           | 7.64 (4H, m, SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)            |
|         |         | 6.29 (2H, d, <i>J</i> 6.4, A | NrH)      | 2.97 (1H, m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.76 (1H, m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |
|         |         |                              |           | 1.10 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <sub>3</sub> )  |
| 27      | 85.0    | 6.63 (2H, m, ArH)            | 5.30      | 7.68 (1H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)             |
|         |         | 6.53 (2H, m, ArH)            |           | 7.61 (4H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)             |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.99 (1H, m, CH <sub>2</sub> )              |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.76 (1H, m, CH <sub>2</sub> )              |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.47 (3H,s,ArCH <sub>3</sub> )              |
|         |         |                              |           | 1.49 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.4,CH <sub>3</sub> )  |
| 28      | 78.5    | 6.53 (3H, m, ArH)            | 5.31      | 7.67 (1H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)             |
|         |         | 6.24 (1H, m, ArH)            |           | 7.62 (4H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)             |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.95 (1H, m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.72 (1H, m, CH <sub>2</sub> )              |
|         |         |                              |           | 2.64 (3H, s, ArCH <sub>3</sub> )            |
|         |         |                              |           | 1.06 (3H, t, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
|         |         |                              |           |   |

| substitution reactions of CpFe complexes of chloroarenes with<br>ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile |  |                              |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|   | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppm), (CD3COCD3) |                              |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Complex   | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat)       | Aromatic                     | Others  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 26  | 2340 (CN)                                | 98.49 <sup>*</sup> ,90.51,   | 137.65(SO2Ph),133.13*(SO2Ph),                           |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1335 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 88.92,88.80,                 | 131.65(SO2Ph),130.61(SO2Ph),                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1158 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 88.76,88.15                  | 115.04(CN),79.07(Cp),                                   |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              | 26.71(CH <sub>2</sub> ), 11.20(CH <sub>3</sub> )        |  |  |  |  |  |
| 27  | 2240 (CN)                                | 105.16 <sup>*</sup> ,99.00*, | 137.26(SO2Ph),134.80*(SO2Ph),                           |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1335 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 90.93,88.34,                 | 131.83(SO2Ph),130.61(SO2Ph),                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1160 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 87.97,86.55                  | 115.40(CN),79.39(Cp),                                   |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              | 26.58(CH <sub>2</sub> ),20.19(ArCH <sub>3</sub> ),      |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              | 11.25(CH <sub>3</sub> )                                 |  |  |  |  |  |
| 28  | 2240 (CN)                                | 106.84 <sup>*</sup> ,96.92*, | 137.23(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),133.19*(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph), |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1335 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 89.18,88.95,                 | 131.75(SO2Ph),130.65(SO2Ph),                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 1160 (SO <sub>2</sub> )                  | 87.51,86.99                  | 115.14(CN),79.35(Cp),                                   |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              | 26.74(CH <sub>2</sub> ),20.40(ArCH <sub>3</sub> ),      |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              | 11.21(CH <sub>3</sub> )                                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                              |   |  |  |  |  |  |

Table 2.3.2 <sup>13</sup>C NMR and IR data for complexes derived form nucleophilic

\* denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

### **2.3.3** Photolysis of the Complexed Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles.

Liberation of the arylated ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles from their iron complexes was achieved via photolytic demetallation, giving the free organic ligands, in yields ranging from 80-85%.

The identities of the photolyzed products were confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR, and MS. The major differences in the 'H and ''C NMR of these compounds from the complexes are the absence of the cyclopentadienyl peak and the shift of the arene peak downfield in the latter. IR, and MS data have also confirmed the structural features of the organic compounds of interest (Fig. 19 and 20). The CN stretch for the compounds (29-31) appeared at 2240, 2305 and 2300, respectively. The  $SO_2$  bands showed in the range between 1330 and 1325, as well as 1158-1160. MS has clearly shown the molecular ion peaks of these compounds. The results of spectroscopic analysis are listed in Tables 2.3.3., and 2.3.4.

2.4 Reactions of Ethylcyanoacetates.

Ethyl cyanoacetates are well known, versatile synthetic intermediates in the synthesis of various heterocyclic compounds, which have important uses in medicinal chemistry [86].

Reactions of ethylcyanoacetates with isomeric chlorotoluene complexes, which led to the arylation of the ethylcyanoacetates, were conducted by Abd-El-Aziz et al. [69]. It is our goal in this study to continue with the use of isomeric dichlorobenzenes as starting materials.

2.4.1 Arylation of Ethyl Cyanoacetates.

Isomeric dichlorobenzene complexes (32-34) were prepared in the same fashion as the previously reported chloroarene complexes [23].

Reactions of the product complexes (32-34) with ethyl cyanoacetates in the presence of potassium carbonate in N,N-dimethylformamide, led to the formation of complexed arylated ethyl cyanoacetates (35-37) as shown in Scheme 17.





Fig.20 <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of p-Tolyl(phenylsulphonylaceto-

nitrile) in  $CDCl_3$ .

Table 2.3.3:<sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for phenyl ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile,<br/>m-tolyl-(ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile) and p-tolyl-<br/>(ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile)

|          |         | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, ppm), (CE      | CDCl3)                                     |  |  |
|----------|---------|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Compound | % Yield | Aromatic                              | Others                                     |  |  |
| 29       | 80.0    | 7.63 (4H, m,ArH & SO <sub>2</sub> Ph) | 2.63 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |  |  |
|          |         | 7.34 (6H, m,ArH & SO <sub>2</sub> Ph) | 1.02 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.3,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |  |
| 30       | 85.1    | 7.20 (4H, m,ArH)                      | 7.57 (3H,m,SO2Ph)                          |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 7.44 (2H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)            |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 2.68 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 2.28 (3H,s,ArCH3)                          |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 1.05 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.4,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |  |
| 31       | 80.0    | 7.26 (2H, d, <i>J</i> 6.3,ArH)        | 7.60 (3H,m,SO2Ph)                          |  |  |
|          |         | 7.14 (2H,d, <i>J</i> 6.4,ArH)         | 7.42 (2H, m,SO <sub>2</sub> Ph)            |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 2.67 (2H,m,CH <sub>2</sub> )               |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 2.37 (3H,s,ArCH3)                          |  |  |
|          |         |                                       | 1.04 (3H,t,J 7.4,CH <sub>3</sub> )         |  |  |
|          |         |                                       |  |  |  |

Table 2.3.4 <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR, and MS data for phenyethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile, m-tolyl-(ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile), and p-tolyl-(ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile)

|          |                                    |             | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppm), (CDCl3) |  |  |  |
|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Compound | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | m/z<br>(M+) | Aromatic                              | Others   |  |  |
| 29       | 2340(CN)                           | 285         | 128.73,128.65,                        | 134.69(SO2Ph),                                   |  |  |
|          | 1340(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             | 128.53,128.52,                        | 133.81*(SO2Ph),                                  |  |  |
|          | 1158(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             | 128.49,128.21*                        | 130.50(SO2Ph),                                   |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 129.98(SO2Ph),                                   |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 116.31(CN), 25.02(CH <sub>2</sub> ),             |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 9.21(CH <sub>3</sub> )                           |  |  |
| 30       | 2300(CN)                           | 299         | 138.62*,129.23,                       | 134.68(SO2Ph),                                   |  |  |
|          | 1330(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             | 128.57,127.99*,                       | 133.85*(SO2Ph),                                  |  |  |
|          | 1158(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             | 125.54                                | 130.72(SO2Ph),                                   |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 130.59(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),                      |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 116.43(CN),24.91(CH <sub>2</sub> ),              |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 21.29(ArCH3),9.23(CH3)                           |  |  |
| 31       | 2305(CN)                           | 299         | 140.29*,128.65,                       | 134.66(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),                      |  |  |
|          | 1330(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             | 128.47,125.05*                        | 133.66*(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),                     |  |  |
|          | 1160(SO <sub>2</sub> )             |             |                                       | 130.62(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),                      |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 129.47(SO <sub>2</sub> Ph),                      |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 116.48(CN),25.05(CH <sub>2</sub> ),              |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       | 21.13(ArCH <sub>3</sub> ),9.21(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |  |
|          |                                    |             |                                       |  |  |  |

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring



These complexes were isolated as yellow solids in very good yields ranging from (71-81%). <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR as well as IR were used to characterized the prepared complexes (Fig. 21 and 22). In the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of these complexes a very distinctive singlet appeared in the region between  $\delta$  5.46-5.47. This is characteristic of the complexation with the FeCp moiety. The remaining peaks were assigned based on the structures of the products, as well as on the integration for each peak. The results obtained for both <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR were in agreement with expected values. The peaks of interest in the IR were the CN, and CO stretches. They have appeared in the region between 2310-2200 and 1755-1760  $cm^{-1}$  respectively. The summary of the results for the spectroscopic analysis are listed in Tables 2.4.1. and 2.4.2.

2.4.2 Photolysis of the Complexed Ethyl Cyanoacetates.

The free aromatic ligands of ethylcyanoacetates were obtained by using photolysis as a means of decomplexation, as illustrated in Scheme 17. In doing so the FeCp moiety cleaves from the complex leaving the free aromatic ligands which are easily isolated by column chromatography. The pure products were obtained as yellow oils. The desired compounds were isolated in yields ranging from 79-84%.

The identities of all photolyzed products were confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, IR, and MS. The results of those analysis are listed in Tables 2.4.3. and 2.4.4. The major differences in the spectral analysis between the complexed and uncomplexed products are as follows. In the case of <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, due to the loss of the FeCp moiety, there is an absence of the Cp signal.

There is also an evident shift in the position of the aromatic signals to the lower field. For example, in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR of an ortho substituted complex 35, the Cp signal occurs at  $\delta$  5.47 and the aromatic protons appear in the range between  $\delta$  7.05 and 6.71. After the decomplexation, the spectrum of the free ligand does not show the peak due to the iron moiety, as well the aromatic protons exhibit the shift in their position to the region between  $\delta$  7.38-7.46. The representative spectra of the compounds of interest are shown in Fig. 23 and 24.







(cyano)acetate]-7<sup>5</sup>-(cyclopentadienyl) hexafluoro-

phosphate in  $CD_3COCD_3$ .





| Complex | % Yield | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, ppm)<br>Aromatic   | , (CD3C<br>Ср | COCD3)<br>Others   |
|---------|---------|---|---------------|--|
| 35      | 71.0    | 7.05 (1H,d, <i>J</i> 7.3,ArH)<br>6.85 (2H,m,ArH)<br>6.71 (1H,t, <i>J</i> 6.1,ArH) | 5.47          | 6.26 (1H,s,CH)<br>4.30 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 6.8,CH <sub>2</sub> )<br>1.25 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.2,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
| 36      | 74.0    | 7.05-6.65 (4H,t, <i>J</i> 6.1,ArH)  | 5.46          | 5.83 (1H,s,CH)<br>4.31 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>2</sub> )<br>1.26 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
| 37      | 81.0    | 6.97 (2H,d, <i>J</i> 6.5,ArH)<br>6.74 (2H,d, <i>J</i> 6.5,ArH)                    | 5.46          | 5.72 (1H,s,CH)<br>4.25 (2H,q, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>2</sub> )<br>1.25 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |

Table 2.4.1<sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for complexes derived from nucleophilicsubstitution reactions of CpFe complexes of dichloroarenes withethyl cyanoacetate

| Complex | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | 13C NMR (δ, ppn<br>Aromatic  | n), (CD3COCD3)<br>Others  |              |
|---------|------------------------------------|--|---|--------------|
| 35      | 2305(CN)<br>1755(CO)               | 108.56 <sup>*</sup> ,95.30 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>89.90,89.71,                | 162.48(CO),114.85(CN),<br>80.87(Cp),64.67(CH <sub>2</sub> ),                                      | m3Dianistoca |
|         |                                    | 88.53,87.12  | 41.56(CH),13.76(CH <sub>3</sub> )   |              |
| 36      | 2200(CN)<br>1760(CO)               | 107.08 <sup>*</sup> ,96.04 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>89.82,88.96,<br>87.98,86.41 | 162.45(CO),115.26(CN),<br>80.28(Cp),63.93(CH <sub>2</sub> ),<br>41.74(CH),13.02(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |              |
| 37      | 2310(CN)<br>1760(CO)               | 107.48 <sup>*</sup> ,95.34 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>88.64,88.55,<br>88.52,86.11 | 162.54(CO),115.30(CN),<br>80.41(Cp),63.91(CH <sub>2</sub> ),<br>41.67(CH),13.07(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |              |

Table 2.4.213C NMR, and IR data for complexes derived from nucleophilicsubstitution reactions of CpFe complexes of dichloroarenes withethyl cyanoacetate

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

|          |         | <sup>1</sup> Η NMR (δ, ppm) | , (CDCl3)                                  |
|----------|---------|-----------------------------|--|
| Compound | % Yield | Aromatic                    | Others                                     |
| 38       | 82.0    | 7.38-7.46 (4H, br s,ArH)    | 4.70 (1H,s,CH)                             |
|          |         |                             | 4.23 (2H,q,J7.2,CH <sub>2</sub> )          |
|          |         |                             | 1.26 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
| 39       | 84.0    | 7.35 (4H, br s,ArH)         | 4.67 (1H,s,CH)                             |
|          |         |                             | 4.25 (2H,q,J7.1,CH <sub>2</sub> )          |
|          |         |                             | 1.27 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.0,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
| 40       | 79.0    | 7.39 (4H, br s,ArH)         | 4.68 (1H,s,CH)                             |
|          |         |                             | 4.23 (2H,q,J7.1,CH <sub>2</sub> )          |
|          |         |                             | 1.26 (3H,t, <i>J</i> 7.1,CH <sub>3</sub> ) |
|          |         |                             |  |

Table 2.4.3 <sup>1</sup>H NMR and yield data for ethyl chlorophenyl(cyano)acetate

| •        |                                    |             | <sup>13</sup> C NMR (δ, ppm), (CDCl3)   |   |  |
|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|---|---|--|
| Compound | i.r. (cm <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(neat) | m/z<br>(M+) | Aromatic  | Others  |  |
| 38       | 2220(CN)<br>1750(CO)               | 223         | 129.32,129.20,<br>127.89,123.05 <sup>*</sup>                                  | 164.50(CO),115.60(CN),<br>63.29(CH <sub>2</sub> ),43.76(CH),<br>13.87(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |
| 39       | 2260(CN)<br>1755(CO)               | 223         | 135.15 <sup>*</sup> ,131.59 <sup>*</sup> ,<br>130.51,129.48,<br>128.09,126.08 | 164.34(CO),115.23(CN),<br>63.56(CH <sub>2</sub> ),43.20(CH),<br>13.82(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |
| 40       | 2300(CN)<br>1750(CO)               | 223         | 135.40 <sup>*</sup> ,129.49,<br>129.25,128.37 <sup>*</sup> ,                  | 164.52(CO),115.22(CN),<br>63.49(CH <sub>2</sub> ),43.05(CH),<br>13.82(CH <sub>3</sub> ) |  |

Table 2.4.4 13C NMR, IR, and MS data for ethyl chlorophenyl(cyano)acetate

\*denotes a quaternary carbon atom on the aromatic ring

#### 3.0 EXPERIMENTAL

All chemicals used, such as ferrocene, aluminum trichloride anhydrous, aluminum powder, decalin, and the chloroarenes, are commercially available and were used without further purification. Other commercially available chemicals which were an asset in the nucleophilic substitution reactions and demetallation reactions include ethyl acetoacetate, methyl acetoacetate, potassium carbonate, magnesium sulphate, phenyl sulphonylacetonitrile, ammonium hexafluorophosphate, silica gel (60-100 mesh), and potassium t-butoxide. Solvents such as tetrahydrofuran (THF), N,N-dimethyl-formamide (DMF), diethyl ether, hexane acetonitrile, chloroform, acetone, deuteroacetone, deuterochloroform were also commercially available and all but THF were used without further purification. THF was freshly distilled, according to standard procedure [111].

<sup>1</sup>H (200 MHz) and <sup>13</sup>C (50 MHz) NMR spectra were recorded on a Gemini 200 NMR spectrometer; with chemical shifts being calculated from the solvent signals. MS spectra were separated on a HP 5970 Series Mass Selective Detector in m/z units. IR were recorded using a Perkin-Elmer 781 spectrophotometer.

3.1 Synthesis of Chloroarene Complexes.

Starting complexes (4-6), (19) and (32-34) were prepared through ligand exchange reactions. The general procedure used for complexes of interest is described in the following section.

**3.1.1** Synthesis of  $\eta^{\delta}$ -arene- $\eta^{5}$ -cyclopentadienyliron hexafluorophosphate complexes.

In a 500 mL 3-necked round bottom flask were placed 100 mmol ferrocene  $(FeCp_2)$ , 200 mmol aluminum trichloride (AlCl<sub>3</sub>), 100 mmol aluminum powder, and 250 mmol of the substituted arene (chlorobenzene, o-, m-,p-dichloro- benzene, and o- m-,or p-chlorotoluene). Decalin (60 mL) was used as a solvent if necessary. The mixture was then heated at 130-145°C, under nitrogen atmosphere for 5 hours. The mixture was then cooled to 50°C and poured into 400 mL of ice water and stirred for 10 minutes. The greenish-orange solution was then suction filtered through sand. The filtrate was washed with 4 x 75 mL of ether ( 3 times with petroleum ether, once with diethyl ether) in a separatory funnel to remove the organic layer. After washing, 60 mmol of

ammonium hexafluorophosphate  $(NH_4PF_6)$  was added and the solution turned a greenish-yellow as it was stirred for 10 minutes. The crude precipitate was collected by filtration and redissolved in dichloromethane. This was subsequently dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate for 10 minutes. The solution was filtered into a 1000 mL round bottom flask and the dichloromethane was concentrated to a volume of 80-100 mL using a rotary evaporator. Addition of diethyl ether to the concentrated solution (dark green) resulted in the precipitation of the pure products (4-6, 19, 32-34). This was collected by suction filtration and the product was dried under vacuum for 1 hour. The final products were characterized by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (APT). The results obtained through such an analysis agreed very well with the spectroscopic data reported previously.

3.2 Synthesis of Some Alkanoic Acid Esters Precursors.

## **3.2.1** Preparation of Ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate and Ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate.

In a flame dried 500 mL 3-necked flask equipped with a condenser and  $CaCl_2$  drying tube, was placed 150 mL of 95% ethanol. Metallic sodium (0.326 mol) was then added. After all of the sodium had dissolved, 0.300 mol

of ethyl acetoacetate was added to the warm solution of sodium ethoxide. Followed immediately, was added 0.3 mol of methyl or ethyl bromide . The reaction mixture was then heated for 3 hours and allowed to sit for 4.5 days. Next the mixture was filtered (the reaction flask was washed with ethanol) and the ethanol was removed by the use of the rotary evaporator to a volume of 65 mL. Next, 250 mL of  $H_2O$  and 3 mL of concentrated HCl were added. The mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel and the aqueous layer was drawn off. The mixture was then washed with approximately 50 ml of  $H_2O$ , and then dried over  $MgSO_4$ . The mixture was then filtered into а 100 ml round bottomed flask for vacuum distillation. Following distillation, the pure products were then characterized using IR , <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR. The results of the above are as follow:

### Ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate

<sup>1</sup>H NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows 4.12 (2H,q, J 7.2, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.43 (1H, q, J 7.1, CH), 2.17 (3H, s, -COCH<sub>3</sub>), 1.25 (3H, t, J 7.2, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.24 (3H, d, J 7.3, CHCH<sub>3</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows 203.15 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 170.43 ( $CO_2CH_2CH_3$ ), 61.21 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.53 (CH), 28.25 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 13.95 (CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 12.58 (CHCH<sub>3</sub>); IR (cm<sup>-1</sup>, neat) shows stretches at 1738 and 1720 for the carbonyl groups.

### Ethyl 2-ethylacetoacetate

<sup>1</sup>H NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows 4.22 (2H,q, J 7.2, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.32 (1H, t, J 7.3, CH), 2.21 (3H, s, -COCH<sub>3</sub>), 1.87 (2H, m, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.26 (3H, t, J 7.2, CO<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.2 (3H, t, J 7.4 CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows 203.02 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 169.61 (CO<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 61.18 (CO<sub>2</sub>CHCH<sub>3</sub>), 61.01 (CH), 28.56 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 21.38 (CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 13.88 (CO<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>); IR (cm<sup>-1</sup>) shows stretches at 1740, 1720 for the carbonyl groups.

**3.2.2** Synthesis of  $n^{\delta}$ -(ethyl 2-aryl)propanoates (or butanoates)- $n^{\delta}$ -cyclopentadienyliron(II) hexafluorophosphate complexes.

A mixture of 2.0 mmol of the chloroarene cyclopentadienyliron hexafluorophosphate, 2.2 mmol of ethyl methylacetoacetate or ethyl ethylacetoacetate and 5.0 mmol of potassium carbonate in 10 mL DMF was stirred under nitrogen with heating at 50°C for 8 hours. The red reaction mixture was filtered rapidly into 15 mL of 10% HCl, the reaction flask was then washed with ethanol and the washings also filtered into the HCl. The ethanol was then removed using a rotary evaporator. То the remaining DMF solution, two mmol of ammonium hexafluoro- phosphate in 20 mL of  $H_2O$  was added. The

product was then recovered by extraction with dichloromethane, washed several times with water (7 x 25 mL) and dried over magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the residual material was then washed with diethyl ether (3 x 25 mL) to yield the final products (7-9), (13-15) and (20a,b; 21a,b).

3.2.3 Photolysis n<sup>6</sup>-(ethyl 2-aryl)propanoates (or butanoates)-n<sup>5</sup>-cyclopentadienyliron(II) hexafluorophosphate.

One mmol of the substituted arene cyclopentadienyliron complexes was dissolved in 40 mL of 3/1 dichloromethane/acetonitrile mixture in a pyrex tube. The solution was deoxygenated by bubbling nitrogen through it for 0.5 hours prior to the photolysis. The photolytic apparatus was equipped with a Xenon lamp and the sample was irradiated at room temperature for 4 hours. The solvent was concentrated to a volume of 2-3 mL using the rotary evaporator. The residue was purified by passage through a short column (5 cm) of packed silica gel (60-100 mesh). The target product was eluted with  $CHCl_3$ , while byproducts of the photolysis ( for example ferrocene and some iron salts), were recoverd with hexane fraction. Removal of the solvent
from the eluate gave the expected liberated arenes. The resulting products(10-12), (16-18) as well as 22a,b,and 23 a,b were then subjected to the standard spectroscopic tests(<sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, as well as IR and MS).

3.3 Reactions of Ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles.

3.3.1 Synthesis of Ethylphenysulphonylacetonitrile.

In a very dry 250 mL 3-necked flask equipped with a stir bar, condenser and a calcium chloride drying tube, was placed 80 mL of absolute ethanol (as shown in the scheme 5). Three and a half grams of metallic sodium was added (in small pieces) to the ethanol very slowly. After all of the sodium was dissolved, 27.2 g of phenylsulphonyl acetonitrile was added slowly to the warm solution of sodium ethoxide. Without delay, 16 mL of ethyl bromide was added slowly to the solution, upon which it turned slightly yellow color. The mixture was then filtered, the reaction flask washed with ethanol, and the ethanol was also filtered. The ethanol was then concentrated from the filtrate to a volume of 75 mL. This was added to 125 mL of ice water and 1.5 mL of concentrated hydrochloric acid. The mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel and the aqueous sodium bromide layer was drawn off. At this point there

existed a yellowish oil which stuck to the walls of the separatory funnel. This was the product which was subsequently dissolved in ethanol, and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulphate.

The mixture was then filtered into a round bottom flask and was placed on the rotary evaporator to remove all of the ethanol. From this resulted a yellowish oil with some white precipitate. Analysis using proton NMR indicated the mixture of unreacted phenylsulphonylacetonitrile, ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile (the major product) and ethyl ethylphenylsulphonyl acetonitrile. It was thus necessary to separate the three products by column chromatography. The target product, ethyl phenylsulphonylacetonitrile, was eluted with the mixture of diethyl ether/hexane (1:3). It was then characterized by IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR. The results of these analysis are:

<sup>1</sup>H NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm), (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows peaks at 8.00 (1H,m,SO<sub>2</sub>Ph), 7.96 (4H,m,SO<sub>2</sub>Ph), 2.00 (2H,m,CH<sub>2</sub>), 1.10 (3H,t, J 7.0, CH<sub>3</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR ( $\delta$ , ppm), (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) shows 135.50 (SO<sub>2</sub>Ph), 135.14 (SO<sub>2</sub>Ph), 129.50 (SO<sub>2</sub>Ph), 113.76 (CN), 20.68 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 11.06 (CH<sub>3</sub>); IR(cm<sup>-1</sup>) shows stretches at 2340 (CN), 1340 (SO<sub>2</sub>) and 1158 (SO<sub>2</sub>).

## 3.3.2 Synthesis of $(\eta^6 - arylethylphenylsulphonyl=$ acetonitrile) $(\eta^5 - cyclopentadienyl)iron(II)$ hexafluorophosphate Complexes.

A mixture of 1 mmol of FeCp of chloroarene complex, 2.5 mmol of potassium carbonate, 1.05 mmol of ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile, and 10 mL of N,N-dimethyl formamide was stirred at room temperature for 7 hours. The resulting red reaction mixture was rapidly filtered into 10 mL of 10% hydrochloric acid. The reaction flask was washed with ethanol and added to the filtrate. The ethanol was removed under reduced pressure at 25°C using the rotary evaporator. Α concentrate solution of NH4PF6 was added and the mixture was then stirred for 10 minutes and the resulting yellow product was collected by filtration.

The final products (26-28) were analyzed using IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR. The results obtained are listed in Tables 2.3.1 and 2.3.2.

**3.3.3** Photolysis of  $(\eta^6 - arylethylphenylsulphonyl$  $acetonitrile)(<math>\eta^5 - cyclopentadienyl$ )iron(II) hexafluorophosphate Complexes.

Iron complexes (26-28) were subjected to photolysis

in the photolytic apparatus equipped with a Xenon lamp. One mmol of complexes (26-28) was dissolved in the mixture of  $CH_2Cl_2/CH_3CN$  (30 mL: 10 mL) in a pyrex tube. The solution was deoxygenated by bubbling nitrogen through it. The reaction vessel was then irradiated at room temperature for the period of 2 hours. Following the standard procedure, the solvent was concentrated to a volume of 1-2 mL using the rotary evaporator and the concentrate was introduced to a column of silica gel, prepared in hexane. The residue was washed with hexane and the product eluted with chloroform, by passage through the short column. Removal of the solvent from the elute gave the expected liberated arenes (29-31). Their spectral data, and respective yields will be reported in Tables 2.3.3 and 2.3.4.

3.4 Reactions with Ethyl cyanoacetates.

**3.4.1** Synthesis of  $(n^{6}-ethyl-(chlorophenyl))$ cyanoacetate) $(n^{5}-cyclopentadienyl)iron(II)$ hexafluorophosphate complexes.

A mixture of the starting cation (1 mmol), potassium carbonate (2.5 mmol), and ethyl cyanoacetate (1.05 mmol)

in DMF (10 mL) was stirred at room temperature under a nitrogen atmosphere for 7 hours. The resulting dark red reaction mixture was filtered into 10% aqueous hydrochloric acid (10 mL). Concentrated aqueous ammonium hexafluorophosphate was added to the reaction mixture and the product was extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 50 mL). The combined extract was washed with water (4 X 40 mL), dried  $(MgSO_4)$ and evaporated under reduced pressure at 25°C. The residual yellow oil was washed with diethyl ether (3 X 20 mL) and was dissolved in  $CH_2Cl_2$  and precipitated by diethyl ether.

The final products were subjected to spectroscopic analysis via IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR. The results of these analyses are tabulated in Table 2.4.1 and 2.4.2.

100

3.4.2 Photolysis of (n<sup>6</sup>-ethyl-(chlorophenyl) cyanoacetate)(n<sup>5</sup>-cyclopentadienyl)iron(II) hexafluorophosphate Complexes.

General procedure for photolysis was used.

Each of the complexes, 35-37 was separately dissolved in the mixture of  $CH_2Cl_2/CH_3CN$  (30 mL/10 mL) in a pyrex tube. The resulting solution was deoxygenated, after which it was placed in the photochemical apparatus described previously, and irradiated at room temperature for 2 hours. The solvent was concentrated to a volume of 1-2 mL using a rotary evaporator. The residue was applied to a silica gel column and eluted with chloroform. Removal of the solvent from the elute gave the expected free arene. The spectral data (IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, MS) and percent yields are reported in Tables 2.4.3 and 2.4.4.

## 4.0 CONCLUSION

Aromatic nucleophilic substitution reactions  $(S_NAr)$  of arene complexed to an iron moiety with various carbon nucleophiles, followed by photolysis, have been under our investigation as a possible novel route to the compounds of interest. This methodology has proven successful with ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate, 2-ethylacetoacetate, phenylsulphonylacetonitrile and ethyl cyanoacetate nucleophiles, and as various chloroarene cyclopentadienyliron (CpFe) complexes as substrate.

Specifically, treatment of chlorobenzene and

isomeric chlorotoluenes (mand p-) with ethyl methylacetoacetate or ethyl ethylacetoacetate in the presence of potassium carbonate in DMF produce the nucleophilic substitution products (7-9 and 13-15 ) with deacylation in high yields (71-89%). Besides the use of complexed m- and p-chlorotoluene, we have also applied the above methodology to the o-chlorotoluene complex. In these reactions we always obtained a mixture of deacylated and non-deacylated complexes. Photolysis was method of demetallation of our S<sub>N</sub>Ar chosen as а products. In the case of рand mcomplexes, photolysis resulted in the generation of the uncomplexed alkanoic acid esters, 10-12 and 16-18. The photolysis of o- complex mixtures resulted in the enrichment of the deacylated and non-deacylated alkanoic acid esters. The overall yield for these compounds ranged between 55 to 57%.

further explore the versatility of To this synthetic strategy, we carried out nucleophilic substitution reactions of chloroarene complex (4-6 ,19 and 34-36) with ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitrile and ethyl cyanoacetate. These reactions led to the formation of the desired products, namely complexed arylated ethylphenylsulphonylacetonitriles and ethyl cyanoacetates, in good yields ranging form 71-94%. Photolysis of these complexes have proven once again

appropriate for the liberation of the free aromatic ligands 30-33, and 40-42 in very good yield.

In conclusion, we would like to point out that in the synthesis of much desired alkanoic acid precursors and heterocyclic precursors, our method of nucleophilic substitution followed by photolysis have proven to be superior to the other approaches previously reported, due to its ease and use of mild reagents. As well it is worth stressing that the methodology chosen by our group demonstrates its versatility by facilitating the introduction of various functional groups to the ethyl ethylcyanoacetates, phenylsulphonylacetonitriles as well as the ethyl cyanoacetates.

## REFERENCES

| 1.  | P. L. Pauson, Pure & Appl. Chem., 49 (1977) 839-855.   |
|-----|--|
| 2.  | S. A. Miller, J. A. Tebboth, and J. F. Tremaine,       |
|     | J.Chem. Soc. 632 (1952).                               |
| 3.  | S. G. Davies, " Organotransition Metal Chemistry:      |
|     | Applications to Organic Chemistry", 1st edition,       |
|     | Pergamon Press Canada Ltd., Canada, (1982) 19.         |
| 4.  | A.J. Pearson, Metallo-organic Chemistry, John Wiley    |
|     | & Sons, New York, 1985.                                |
| 5.  | R. G. Sutherland and C. Zhang and A. Piorko            |
|     | J.Organomet. Chem. 419 (1991) 357-373.                 |
| 6.  | D. Astruc, Top. Curr. Chem., 160 (1991) 47.            |
| 7.  | E.O. Fischer and R. Bottcher, Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., |
|     | 291 (1957) 305.  |
| 8.  | P.L. Pauson and J.A. Segal, J.Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. |
|     | (1974) 233.  |
| 9.  | F.A. Cotton and G. Wilkinson, "Basic Inorganic         |
|     | Chemistry", 2nd ed., John Wiley & Sons, 1987.          |
| 10. | M. Bochman, M. Cooke, M. Green H.P. Kirsh, F.G.A.      |
|     | Stone and A. J. Welch, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm.,     |
|     | (1976), 381.   |
|     |  |
|     |  |

- 11. K.K. Joshi, P.L. Pauson, A.R. Qazi and W.H. Stubbs, J.Organomet. Chem., 1 (1964) 471.
- 12. I.S. Butler and J.F. Harrod, " Inorganic Chemistry; Principles and Applications", Cummings Publishing Company, Inc., Redwod City, California, (1989).
- J.E. Huheey, " Inorganic Chemistry; Principles of Structure and Reactivity", 3rd Ed., Harper and Row Publishers, New York, (1983).
- 14. M.L.H. Green, L. Pratt and G. Wilkinson, J. Chem. Soc., (1960) 989.
- T.H. Coffield, V. Sandal and R.D. Closson, J. Am. Chem.Soc., 79 (1957) 5826.
- 16. A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and I.N. Bolesova, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 149 (1963) 615.
- 17. A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and I.N. Bolesova, Tetrahedron Lett., (1963) 1725.
- A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and I.N. Bolesova, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 169 (1965) 1327.
- D. Astruc and R. Dabard, J. Organomet. Chem., 111 (1976) 339.
- 20. I.U. Khand, P.L. Pauson and W.E. Watts, J. Chem. Soc. C, (1968) 2257.
- 21. B.R. Steele, R.G. Sutherland and C.C. Lee, J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, (1981) 529.
- 22. D. Astruc and R. Dabard, J. Organomet. Chem., 96

(1975) 283.

- 23. I.U. Khand, P.L. Pauson and W.E. Watts, J. Chem. Soc. C(1968) 2261.
- 24. I.U. Khand, P.L. Pauson and W.E. Watts, J. Chem. Soc. C (1969) 116.
- 25. I.U. Khand, P.L. Pauson and W.E. Watts, J. Chem. Soc. C, (1969) 2024.
- 26. A.N. Nesmeyanov, I.F. Leshchova, Yu.A. Ustynyuk, Ye.I. Sirotkina, I.N. Bolesova, L.S. Isayeva, and N.A. Vol'kenau, J. Organomet. Chem., 22 (1970) 689.
- 27. R.G. Sutherland, S.C. Chen, J. Pannekoek and C.C. Lee, J. Organomet. Chem., 101 (1975) 221.
- 28. D. Astruc and R. Dabard, Tetrahedron, 32 (1976) 245.
- 29. C.C. Lee, R.G. Sutherland and B.J. Thomson, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun., (1971) 1071.
- 30. J. Pavlik and P. Kritz, Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun., 31 (1966) 4412.
- 31. A.N. Nesmeyanov, B.V. Lokshin, N.A. Vol'kenau, I. N. Bolesova and L.S. Isaeva, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 184 (1969) 358.
- 32. M.F. Semmelhack, Annalas N.Y. Acad. Sci., 295 (1977) 36.
- 33. D. Astruc, Tetrahedron, 39 (1983) 4027.
- 34. R. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem. Library, 3 (1977) 311.
- 35. D. Astruc, Tetrahedron, 39 (1977) 4027.

- 36. D. Astruc, Chem. Rev , 88 (1988) 1189.
- 37. L. Kane-Maquire, E.D. Honig, D.A. Sweigart, Chem Rev, 84 (1984) 525.
- M.F. Semmelhack, J. Organomet. Chem. Library, 1 (1976), 361.
- 39. S.G. Davies, M.L. Green, D.M.P. Mingos, Tetrahedron, 34 (1978) 3047.
- 40. R.G. Sutherland, A. Piorko, U.S. Gill and C.C. Lee, J.Heterocyclic Chem., 19 (1982), 801.
- R.G. Sutherland, B.R. Steele, K.J. Demchuk and C.C.
   Lee, J. Organomet. Chem., 181 (1979), 411.
- 42. R.G. Sutherland, C.C. Lee, U.S. Gill, M. Iqbal and
  C.I. Azogu, J. Organomet. Chem., 231 (1982), 151.
- 43. R.G. Sutherland, A. Piorko, C.C. Lee, S.H. Simonsen and V.M. Lynch, J. Heterocyclic Chem. 25 (1988), 1911.
- 44. C.C. Lee, R.L. Chowdhury, A. Piorko and R.G. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem., 310 (1986), 391.
- 45. D. Astruc and D. Mandon, Organometallics, 9 (1990) 341.
- 46. Pearson
- 47. A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and I.N. Bolesova, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 175 (1967) 606.
- 48. A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau, I.S. Isaeva and I.N. Bolesowa, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 183 (1968) 834.
- 49. J.F. Helling and W.A. Hendrickson, J. Organomet. Chem.

168 (1979) 87.

- 50. C.C. Lee, A.S. Abd-El-Aziz, R.L. Chowdhury, U.S. Gill, A. Piorko and R.G. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem., 315 (1986), 79.
- 51. C.C. Lee, A.S. Abd-EL-Aziz, R.L. Chowdhury, A. Piorko and R.G. Sutherland, Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 16(4) (1986), 541.
- 52. C.C. Lee, U.S. Gill, R.G. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem., 267 (1984) 157.
- 53. C.C. Lee, A. Piorko, B.R. Steele, U.S. Gill, R.G. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem., 256 (1983) 303.
- 54. A.S. Abd-El-Aziz, C.C. Lee, A. Piorko and R.G. Sutherland, J. Organomet. Chem., 348 (1988), 95.
- 55. R.M. Moriarty, U.S. Gill and Y.Y. Ku, Polyhedron, 7 (1988) 2685.
- 56. R.M. Moriarty and U.S. Gill, Organometallics, 5 (1986) 253.
- 57. A. Piorko, A.S. Abd-El-Aziz, C. Lee and R.G. Sutherland, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans.,...
- 58. A.J. Birch, P.E. Cross, D.T. Connor and G.S.R. Subba Rao, J. Chem. Soc. C., 54 (1966).
- 59. G. Jaouen and R. Dabard, Tet. Letters, (1971) 1015.
- G. Jaouen, A. Meyer and G. Simmonneaux, J. Chem.
   Soc. Chem. Comm., (1975) 813.
- 61. R.J. Card and W.S. Trahanovsky, Tet. Letters, (1973) 3823.

- 62. B. Nicholls and M.C. Whiting, J. Chem. Soc., (1959) 551.
- 63. A.N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and I.N. Bolesova, Dokl. Akad. Nauk., SSSR 149 (1963) 1725.
- 64. A. N. Nesmeyanov, N.A. Vol'kenau and L.S. Shilovtseva, Dokl. Akad. Nauk., SSSR, 190 (1970) 857.
- 65. T.P Gill and K.R. Mann, Inorg. Chem., 19 (1980) 3007.
- 66. T.P. Gill and K.R. Mann, J. Organomet. Chem., 216 (1981) 65.
- 67. T.P. Gill and K.R. Mann, Inorg. Chem., 22 (1983) 1986.
- J.L. Schrenk, M.C. Palazzotto and K.R. Mann, Inorg. Chem., 22 (1983) 4047.
- 69. A.S. Abd-El-Aziz and Ch.R. de Denus, Synth. Commun. 22(4) (1992), 581.
- 70. A.S. Abd-El-Aziz and Ch.R. De Denus, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans., 1 (1993) 293.
- 71. R.G. Sutherland, W.J. Pannekoek and C.C. Lee, Ann. N.Y.Acad. Sci., 295 (1977) 192.
- 72. C.C. Lee, K.J. Demchuk and R.G. Sutherland, Cand. J. Chem., 57 (1979) 933.
- 73. R.G. Sutherland, W.J. Pannekoek and C.C Lee, Cand. J. Chem. 56 (1978) 1782.
- 74. R. E. Dessy, F.E. Stary, R.B. King and M. Waldrop, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88 (1966) 471.
- 75. A.N. Nesmeyanov, L.I. Denisovich, S.P. Gubin, N.A.

Vol'kenau, E.I. Sirotkina and I.N. Bolesova, J. Organomet. Chem., 20 (1969) 169.

- 76. N. El Murr, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1981) 251.
- 77. A. Darchen, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., (1983) 768.
- 78. A. Darchen, J. Organomet. Chem. 302 (1986) 389.
- 79. C. Moinet, E. Roman and D. Astruc, J. Organomet. Chem. 128 (1977) C45.
- W.J. Bowyer, W.E. Geiger and V. Boekelheide, Organometallics, 3 (1984) 1079.
- 81. A. Abd-El-Aziz, A. Piorko, A.S. Baranski and R. Sutherland, Synth. Communications, 19(11 & 12) (1989) 1865.
- R.G. Sutherland, A.S. Abd-El-Aziz, A. Piorko
   A.S. Baranski and C.C. Lee, Synth. Commun.,
- 83. C. Giordano, G. Castaldi, and F. Uggeri, Angew. Chem. Int .Ed .Engl., 23 (1984) 413-419.
- 84. D.J. Drain, M.J. Daly, B. Davy, M. Horlington, J.G. Howes, J.M. Scurton and R.A. Selway, J. Pharm. Pharmac., 22 (1970), 684.
- 85. T.Y. Shen, Angew. Chem. Internat. Edit., 11 (1972) 6.
- 86. J.P. Rieu, A. Boucherle, H. Cousse and G. Mouzin, Tetrahedron, 15 (1986) 4095-4131.
- 87. M.C. Gillis and R. Bisson, Editors, "Compendium of Pharmaceuticals and Specialties", 24th Ed., Southam Muray Ltd., 1989.
- 88. S.S. Adams and R. Cobb, Progr. Med. Chem., 5 (1967)

59.

- 89. T.Y. Shen, T.B. Windholtz, B.E. Wintzel and A.N. Wilson, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 85 (1963) 488.
- 90. E.C. Huskisson, R.T. Taylor, D. Burston, P.J. Chuter and F.D. Hurt, Ann. Rheum. Dis., 29 (1970) 393.
- 91. M. Thompson, P. Stephenson, and J.S. Persy, Ann. Rheum. Dis., 23 (1964) 397.
- 92. M.K. Jasani, W.W. Downie, and B.M. Samuels, Ann. Rheum. Dis., 27 (1968) 457.
- 93. S.S. Adams, K.F. McCullough, and J.S. Nicholson, Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn., 178 (1969) 115.
- 94. S.N. Kulkarni, N.K. Bhamare and H.V. Kamath, Indian Journal of Chemistry, 28B (1989), 953.
- 95. A. Gonzalez, Synth. Commun., 21(12 & 13) (1991) 1353.
- 96. S. Tanaka and K. Hashimoto, Chem. Abstr., 85 (1976) 142843f.
- 97. J. Pataki, M. Konieczny and R.G. Harney, J. Org. Chem. 47 (1982) 1133.
- 98. C.F.H. Allen and J. Van Allan, Org. Synth. Coll. Vol. 111, 725 (1955).
- 99. A. McKillpo, B.P. Swann, E.C. Taylor, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93 (1971) 4919.
- 100. H. Suzuki, T. Kobayashi and A. Osuka, Chem. Lett., (1983), 589.
- 101. H. Suzuki, Q. Yi, J. Inoue and T. Ogawa, Chem. Lett.,

(1987) 887.

- 102. T. Sakamoto, E. Katoh, Y. Kondo, H. Yamanka, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 36 (1988) 1664.
- 103. K.M. Matsui and M. Motoi, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 46 (1973), 1755.
- 104. T. Hirayama, M. Kamanda, H. Tsurumi and M. Mimura, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 24 (1976), 26.
- 105. Y. Shin and J. Wang, Heterocycles, 22 (1984), 2799.
- 106. D.I. Barron, A.R. Copley and D.K. Vallance, Br. J. Pharmac. Chemother., 33 (1968) 396.
- 107. H.Y. Suzuki, J. Inoue, K. Kasume and T. Ogawa, Chem. Lett., (1987) 88.
- 108. E.M. Kaiser, L.E. Solter, R.A. Schwartz, R.D. Beard and C.R. Hauser, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93 (1971) 4237.
- 109. A. Osuka, T. Kobayashi and H. Suzuki, Synthesis, 67 (1983).
- 110. M. Uno, K. Seto, W. Masuda, S. Takahashi, Synthesis (1985) 506.
- 111. J.S. Swinehart, "Organic Chemistry: An Experimental Approach", Meredith Coorporation, New York, 1969, 455.